Open Agenda

Health and Wellbeing Board
Thursday 13 January 2022
12.00 pm
This will be a virtual meeting
Membership
Councillor Kieron Williams (Chair)

Leader of the Council

Dr Nancy Kuchemann (Vice-Chair)

GP and NHS SE London CCG Clinical Lead

Councillor Evelyn Akoto

Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing

Councillor Jasmine Ali

Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for
Children, Young People and Education

Sarah Austin

Director Integrated Care for Guy’s and St
Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust

David Bradley

Chief Executive of South London and
Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust

Cassie Buchanan

Southwark Headteachers Representative

Shamsur Choudhury

Healthwatch Southwark

Sam Hepplewhite

Placed Based Director (Southwark), NHS SE
London Clinical Commissioning Group

Clive Kay

Chief Executive, King’s College Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust

Eleanor Kelly

Chief Executive, Southwark

Sangeeta Leahy

Director of Public Health

Krzysztof Mikata-Pralat

Director, Community Southwark

Councillor David Noakes

Opposition spokesperson for Health

David Quirke-Thornton

Strategic Director of Children’s and Adults’
Services

Andrew Ratcliffe
Guy’s and St. Thomas’ Foundation
Anuradha Singh
Independent Chair of Partnership Southwark

INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

Access to information
You have the right to request to inspect copies of minutes and reports on this agenda as
well as the background documents used in the preparation of these reports.
Babysitting/Carers allowances
If you are a resident of the borough and have paid someone to look after your children, an
elderly dependant or a dependant with disabilities so that you could attend this meeting,
you may claim an allowance from the council. Please collect a claim form at the meeting.
Access
The council is committed to making its meetings accessible. Further details on building
access, translation, provision of signers etc for this meeting are on the council’s web site:
www.southwark.gov.uk or please contact the person below.
Contact
Maria Lugangira email: maria.lugangira@southwark.gov.uk
Webpage: https://moderngov.southwark.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=365

Members of the committee are summoned to attend this meeting
Eleanor Kelly
Chief Executive
Date: 5 January 2021

Health and Wellbeing Board
Thursday 13 January 2022
12.00 pm
This will be a virtual meeting. For a link to the meeting contact:
maria.lugangira@southwark.gov.uk

Order of Business
Item No.

Title

1.

WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS

2.

APOLOGIES

Page No.

To receive any apologies for absence.
3.

CONFIRMATION OF VOTING MEMBERS
Voting members of the committee to be confirmed at this point in the
meeting.

4.

NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS THE CHAIR
DEEMS URGENT
In special circumstances, an item of business may be added to an
agenda within five clear days of the meeting.

5.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS
Members of the committee to declare any interests and
dispensation in respect of any item of business to be considered at
this meeting.

6.

MINUTES
To agree as a correct record the open minutes of the meeting held
on 1 November 2021.

1-6

Item No.

7.

Title

HEALTHWATCH PRESENTATION

Page No.

Verbal
Report

To receive a presentation at the meeting.
8.

LOCAL CARE PARTNERSHIP DEVELOPMENT WITHIN OUR
HEALTHIER SOUTH EAST LONDON INTEGRATED CARE
SYSTEM

7 - 21

9.

BETTER CARE FUND 2021/22

22 - 54

10.

COVID-19 UPDATE

Verbal
Report

To receive an update at the meeting.
11.

VACCINATION UPDATE

Verbal
Report

To receive an update at the meeting.
12.

UPDATE ON SOUTHWARK COUNCIL'S OUTBREAK
PREVENTION AND CONTROL PLAN, WINTER 2021/22

55 - 109

13.

PHARMACEUTICAL NEEDS ASSESSMENT (PNA) BRIEFING
AND UPDATE ON TIMELINE

110 - 116

Date: 5 January 2022

1

Agenda Item 6

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
MINUTES of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on Monday 1 November
2021 at 3.30 pm
PRESENT:

Councillor Evelyn Akoto
Sarah Austin
David Bradley
Cassie Buchanan
Shamsur Choudhury
Sam Hepplewhite
Clive Kay
Sangeeta Leahy
Krzysztof Mikata-Prala
Councillor David Noakes
Andrew Ratcliffe
Anuradha Singh

OFFICER
SUPPORT:

1.

Paul Stokes, Head of Programme - Health Improvement
Chris Williamson – Head of Public Health Intelligence
Maria Lugangira – Principal Constitutional Officer

WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS

In the absence of the Chair and Vice-Chair, Councillor Evelyn Akoto Cabinet
Member for Health and Wellbeing Chaired and welcomed everyone to the
meeting.
2.

APOLOGIES

Advance apologies have been received from:
- Cllr Williams
-

Cllr Jasmine Ali

-

Eleanor Kelly

Health and Wellbeing Board - Monday 1 November 2021

2

3.

-

Dr Nancy Kucheman

-

David Quirke-Thornton

CONFIRMATION OF VOTING MEMBERS

Those listed as present were confirmed as the voting members of the meeting.
4.

NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR DEEMS URGENT

There was none.
5.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS

There were none.
6.

MINUTES

RESOLVED - That the minutes of the meeting held on 23 September 2021, be
approved as a correct record of the meeting.
7.

SOUTHWARK JOINT MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY 2021-24

Genette Laws, Director of Commissioning, Children’s and Adults’ Services,
Southwark Council introduced the item. She explained that the Strategy’s
development had been led by the Healthy Populations Team with input from a Task &
Finish Group established for this purpose with representation from across borough
health and social care providers and/or stakeholders.
She further explained the purpose of the Strategy was to achieve national and local
policy imperatives and promote the mental health of residents by improving the range
and access to services and delivering good outcomes and value for money by reducing
stigma and building confidence in services. It was pointed out to the Board that there
was a particular focus on addressing inequity of access and over-representation of
Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic communities in relation to mental health services.
16 priority areas/workstreams had been identified for delivery in the Strategy and that its
implementation would be overseen by a Joint Mental Health and Wellbeing Delivery
Oversight Group with representation from all key stakeholders. The group would
support delivery of work plans with an emphasis on workforce development and
engagement and co-design of planned interventions. The Group’s Terms of Reference
and membership had been agreed and meetings would commence November 2021.

Resolved - The Health and Wellbeing Board;
1.

Commented on and endorsed the Southwark Joint Mental Health Strategy 2021-24
and priorities for action highlighted within it.

Health and Wellbeing Board - Monday 1 November 2021

3

8.

2.

Reviewed and endorsed arrangements for implementation of the Southwark Joint
Mental Health Strategy 2021-24 through the Mental Health and Wellbeing Delivery
Oversight Group, its membership and terms of reference.

3.

Noted that a plain English version of the strategy with case studies/pen pictures that
describe how the strategy will change the lives of residents in the borough.

VACCINATION UPDATE

Sam Hepplewhite - Placed Based Director (Southwark), NHS SE London CCG
provided a brief overview of the vaccination programme.
Schools
She explained Southwark was currently a third of the way through their 12-15
school programme, which had mainly been delivered in schools, with a
supplementary offer to 12-15 year olds and their parents who cannot access that
service. Each school would receive at least one visit and was mandated to use the
school vaccination provider, which was Hounslow and Richmond Trust and who
currently provide flu vaccination to schools. They would visit every school in
Southwark with the agreement of that school i.e agreed time and date. Every child
that was to be vaccinated would need to have the consent of either their
parent/guardian. The provider would also be trained to go through the Gillick
competencies with those individuals who would like to be vaccinated but did not
have consent from their parents/guardian.
For those individuals who for whatever reason could not be in school on
vaccination day there would be supplementary offer which included Guys and St
Thomas Trust in Southwark with dedicated pods that had been aligned for children
available after school and on Saturdays and Sundays. There would also be slots
available at Primary Care in general practice to book on grab a jab website and
South East London website that had details.
With regards to community pharmacies being able to delivery vaccinations to 1215 year olds there were still a number of restrictions. Across South East London,
no pharmacies as yet had been approved to deliver this.
Booster Campaign
With regards to the booster campaign as many sites as possible were being made
available to enable people to access this service. This included vaccination
centres, PCNs, General Practice and the community pharmacy, which had had
good coverage around boosters. The arrangement for supply had changed in that
for the second phase sites could pull down the vaccine rather than waiting for the
delivery. Therefore, each site received a certain amount of vaccine they’d specified
they would like and pulled down from that.
In summary, the booster campaign was going well and needed to ensure people

Health and Wellbeing Board - Monday 1 November 2021

4

were notified as soon as they became eligible and could easily access the vaccine.
Evergreen offer
This offer was ongoing and aimed at anybody who hadn’t had either their first or
second vaccine being encouraged to come forward. It is understood that there
would be a boost campaign at local and national level around communications for
this to encourage that uptake and access the service.
With regards to the data Sam explained it currently was not complete as there had
been a problem around the reporting through of all the vaccine that were being
given from Guys St Thomas Trust. Once the updated information had been
received, it would be shared with the Board.
9.

COVID-19 UPDATE

Chris Williamson, Head of Public Health Intelligence presented the item.
With regards to headline messaging he explained there had been a slight decrease
of confirmed cases in the borough over the past week but that infection levels
remained high, with Southwark having 537 confirmed cases of COVID-19 in the
week up to 26 October.
With regards to hospital pressures, numbers were slowly increasing across London
with continually increasing levels nationally. Across London, there were
around 1000 Covid in patients with 180 of these being in critical care.
With regards to vaccination, there’d been a slow increase across both 1st and 2nd
doses, the coverage being just short of two thirds of adults age 16 and over for the 1st
dose and 60% for those with their 2nd dose. Over 22,000 booster doses had been
delivered to the eligible population.
With regards to demographics, cases had slightly decreased in most age groups over
the past week but infection levels remained high, with highest level in the under 18s.
Infection levels in the over 60s remained relatively low.
With regards to the in patients with COVID-19 at local hospital trusts the number
was stable. Bed occupancy for patients confirmed with Covid-19 at both Guys St
Thomas Trust (GSTT) and Kings College Hospital, Denmark Hill (KCH-DT) had
slightly decreased in recent weeks, with 28 patients at GSTT and 37 patients at
KCH-DH. Nationally the number of COVID-19 patients in hospital continued to increase
With regards to vaccination coverage 65% of those aged 16 and over had received their
first dose of the COVID vaccine, with 60% having received two-dose vaccination.
In terms of ethnicity-related numbers, vaccination inequalities persisted with less than
50% of Black Caribbean residents being vaccinated. This vaccination inequity showed
similar patterns for both dose-one and dose-two coverage, with little change in
recent months. This was a similar inequality pattern seen across London between
ethnic minority groups.

Health and Wellbeing Board - Monday 1 November 2021

5

In terms of horizon scanning, four models had been produced by academic research
teams to show hospital admission rates over Autumn/ Winter and they indicated
much lower levels compared to January 2021.In terms of case these remained
high across London, with the R number between 1.0 and 1.2.
10.

UPDATE ON LATERAL FLOW DEVICE (LFD) TESTING IN SOUTHWARK (RAPID
ANTIGEN TEST)
Paul Stokes, Head of Programme - Health Improvement introduced the item. He
explained that lateral flow testing had been taking place in Southwark since January, with
three essential supervised testing sites in (i) the north of the borough (London Bridge
Station), (ii) centre of the borough (Bournemouth Road, Peckham), and (iii) a Mobile
Test Unit (which rotated to town centres for eg. Peckham Square, Camberwell
Green, Elephant & Castle, and to housing estates).

In addition to the above, there was also the following in place:
 Community Collection points, whereby testing kits were being distributed
through libraries and pharmacies and could be collected for people to carry
out self-swabs at home
 Door Drop: the Southwark Young Advisors targeted neighbourhoods with a
door drop of self-swab LFD test kits informed by the Surveillance Reports
provided by the Public Health Intelligence Team. These could be areas of
higher transmission, lower vaccination take up or other risk factors (eg higher
levels of poor health and wellbeing). The Council was also able to respond to
requests for a ‘drop’ of rapid LFD test kits from key organisations (such as
universities, schools or ‘at risk’ businesses’) in response to outbreak
management.
He added that the whole of Lateral Flow Testing system was there to support the
PCR testing. The PCR test sites in Southwark were located at:
 Burgess Park Car Park – 7 days
 Bel Air Park Car Park – 7 days
 Elephant & Castle Walworth Square – mobile
 Canada Water – Deal Porter Square - mobile

He further explained that the PCR testing system was governed and organised by
the Department of Health and they had indicated that longer term the programme
would keep rolling out until winter next year. In terms of the Lateral Flow Testing,
it had been indicated that the current system would keep going until March 2022.
The funding provided to the Southwark to fund that system was confirmed on a 3month basis.
RESOLVED – That the Health and Wellbeing Board noted the report.
11.

ANY OTHER BUSINESS
There was none.

Health and Wellbeing Board - Monday 1 November 2021

6

12.

NEXT MEETING

Councillor Akoto informed that Board that the next meeting of the HWBB
scheduled for Thursday 10 January would be rescheduled to accommodate
deadlines falling over the Christmas break.
Meeting ended at 4.30 pm
CHAIR:

DATED:

Health and Wellbeing Board - Monday 1 November 2021

7

Item No.

Classification: Date:
Open
13 January 2021

Agenda Item 8

Decision Taker:
Health and Wellbeing
Board

Report title:

Local Care Partnership development within Our
Healthier South East London Integrated Care
System

Ward(s) or groups
affected:

All

From:

Hayley Ormandy, Programme Director
Partnership Southwark
Anu Singh, Strategic Chair Partnership
Southwark

RECOMMENDATION(S)
1) The Southwark Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to: note the update
on progress with Partnership Southwark’s leadership and governance
arrangements, in the context of wider south east London Integrated Care
System (SEL ICS) developments. This builds on the previous detailed update
given to the Board in September 2021.
BACKGROUND INFORMATION
2) Partnership Southwark’s constituent partners are Southwark Council, South
East London Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), Community Southwark,
Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust, South London and Maudsley
NHS Foundation Trust, Improving Health and Quay Health Solutions (GP
Federations representing Primary Care Networks), and King’s College
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.
3) Partnership Southwark was established in April 2019 with a view to bringing
partners from across health, care and the voluntary community sector to
better join up care, improve health and wellbeing outcomes and reduce
inequalities for Southwark residents.
4) When changes are made nationally to formally bring into effect Integrated
Care System (ICS), Partnership Southwark will evolve into a more
formalized Local Care Partnership (LCP) within the SEL ICS. This is
currently anticipated to be 1 July 2022 (having been moved to
accommodate delays in legislative change to facilitate this).
5) As part of this transition, each LCP was asked to work up its leadership and
governance proposals to ensure these were fit for purpose to the borough
context and population and aligned to national and SEL ICS guiding
principles.
6) Partnership Southwark agreed a set of proposals for its leadership,

8

governance and ways of working as an LCP in September 2021 and tasked
a task and finish group with senior representation from partners to work
these proposals through in more detail in readiness for shadow and formal
LCP operating. These proposals were presented to the Health and
Wellbeing Board and endorsed in September 2021.
KEY UPDATES SINCE PREVIOUS BRIEFING
7) Since the September briefing to the Health and Wellbeing Board:


The Partnership submitted its proposed leadership and governance
arrangements to the designate Chair of the SEL ICS at the end of
November, and these have subsequently been supported by ICS
leadership.



A joint statement of intent for the Partnership was sent in December to
Trust and Community Southwark Chief Executives and PCN Clinical
Directors of constituent partners from Eleanor Kelly, Chief Executive of
Southwark Council, Andrew Bland, Designate Chief Accountable Officer
of SEL ICS and Anu Singh, Independent Strategic Chair of Partnership
Southwark (enclosed as Appendix 1).



A letter was sent to constituent partners in mid-December setting out
transitional governance arrangements, the impact of the joint statement
of intent on proposals previously endorsed by the Partnership and
proposed ways of working given Covid operational pressures.



A meeting has taken place between the Council Leader, Cabinet
member for Health and Wellbeing, designate ICS Chair and Chief
Accountable Officer to discuss the interface between the Health and
Wellbeing Board and the ICS/LCPs.
o Partnership Southwark will be a prime-committee of the
Integrated Care Board (ICB) and as such it constitutionally cannot
also formally be a sub-committee of the Health and Wellbeing
Board. However, it will have a strong two-way interface, with
Partnership Southwark:





Reporting on progress and seeking advice from the Health
and Wellbeing Board in line with ambitions for deepening
integrated working and alignment of budgetary
arrangements across health and care;



Reporting on any elements of the Health and Wellbeing
Strategy that the Health and Wellbeing Board seeks to
direct through the Partnership;



Reporting on progress and seeking sign off on
commissioning plans (incl. the Better Care Fund) and
strategic plans, as per current arrangements.

The Partnership Southwark task and finish group have been progressing
the proposals agreed by the Partnership and endorsed by the Health
and Wellbeing Board in September 2021:

9

o Southwark Council have confirmed Councillor Evelyn Akoto,
Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing as the Partnership
Southwark representative on the SEL Integrated Care Partnership
(ICP).
o An outline role profile and recruitment process for the Partnership
Southwark Director has been developed- further work to refine
this will take place once HR frameworks and Job Description
templates are received from the ICS. It is envisaged that
recruitment for this post will start in January 2022, with a view to
securing either a full-time or part-time Director preferably on
secondment from within the wider Partnership Southwark system.
o Wider LCP governance arrangements have been mapped with a
view to this being further developed during Q4 2021/22.
o The Partnership Southwark Strategic Board has been stood up in
shadow form via developmental workshops in December, January
and March. The membership for this Board has been agreed as:
 Partnership Southwark Director, Chair and Associate Chair
(to be recruited)
 2 x representatives from constituent Partnership
Southwark organisations that will represent the views of
their organization and population as opposed to their
institution
 Chair of the Lived Experience Assembly (to be appointed
once this forum has been co-produced with input from
service users, carers and community representatives and
stood up in Q1 2022/23)
 Chair of the Clinical and Professional Advisory Group (to
be appointed via refresh of pre-existing group paused due
to Covid)
 Director of Public Health
 Healthwatch representative.
o A proposed approach to recruiting to clinical and professional
leads from across the Partnership to support key priority areas of
work (incl. primary, community and secondary care, social care
and the VCS) has been developed and will be discussed at the
task and finish group in January. Funding will come via the ICS to
place to support this.
o Work is underway with the support of Community Southwark and
engagement leads from across the Partnership to engage with
service users, carers and community representatives on how best
to establish and constitute the Lived Experience Assembly (and
whether this or another title would be appropriate for this forum)
and to shape Partnership Southwark’s approach to community
engagement and involvement more generally.


Partnership Southwark has been selected as the ‘place’ within the SEL
ICS to participate in a joint NHS England/Improvement, NHS X digital

10

and Local Government Association place-based development
programme. This provides access to experts from across a consortium
including IBM, the Nuffield Trust, PA Consulting, Sollis, Collaborate,
University Hospital of Southampton, National Association of Primary
Care (NAPC) and the Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE).


The Partnership continues to deliver work within its population-based
workstreams ‘Start Well, Live Well, Age Well, and Care Well’ with
focused work taking place in the following areas:

Community, equalities (including socio-economic) and health impacts
8) All sectors of the community are impacted by the historical gaps and
disconnects in how individuals and communities have been supported and
have experienced health and care services in Southwark. And it has not
always been clear about how people can influence the things that matter to
them most.
9) Partnership Southwark seeks to work collaboratively as a partnership to
address inequalities and safeguard our communities by actively listening
and responding to partners and residents in support of Southwark Stands
Together and in building broader community engagement. Our populationbased workstreams seek to take a targeted and outcomes-oriented
approach to addressing health and care inequalities at place and
neighbourhood level.
10) Strengthening our leadership and governance arrangements, deepening our
approach to working in an integrated way across the partnership and
working more effectively with, and for, our communities, will enable the
Partnership to accelerate and amplify this work for the benefit of Southwark
residents.

11

Resource implications
11) All constituent partners within Partnership Southwark are committing time,
leadership and delivery resource to collectively work through and shape our
LCP arrangements.
12) Within the initial ‘safe landing’ phase of NHS only delegations to the LCP,
there will be a need to consider how we make best use of our collective
resources and the ‘Southwark pound’ to improve health and wellbeing
outcomes for our residents through existing mechanisms (e.g. section 75
agreements or enhancing our existing Better Care Fund to facilitate more
pooled budgets across health and care).
SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS
13) This report has been based on discussions from across Partnership
Southwark including executive officer, clinical, and political input via the task
and finish steering group, Southwark Borough Based Board and Partnership
Southwark Leadership Forum.

12

APPENDICES
No.
Appendix 1
Appendix 2

Title
Joint Statement of Intent
Summary presentation for Health and Wellbeing Board

AUDIT TRAIL
Lead Officer Martin Wilkinson
Report Author Hayley Ormandy
Version 1.0
Dated 24/12/21
Key Decision? No
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES /
CABINET MEMBER
Officer Title
Comments Sought
Comments
Included
Director of Law and Governance
No
No
Strategic Director of
No
No
Finance and Governance
Independent Chair
Yes
Partnership Southwark
Chair Southwark Borough
Yes
Based Board and ViceChair Health and Wellbeing
Board
Cabinet Member
Yes
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team /
4 January 2022
Scrutiny Team

13

To: Partnership Southwark Member Chief Executives and PCN Clinical Directors
10 December 2021

By email only

Dear Colleagues
Joint statement of intent – Local Care Partnership development in Southwark
In advance of significant changes for the local NHS and the management of the Council in Spring
2022, we are writing to you as the borough Local Care Partnership (LCP) members to outline our
joint statement of intent alongside proposals, for your consideration, in respect of future
governance and leadership arrangements for 2022/23 and future years.
As a partnership we are fundamentally committed to the improvement of Southwark residents’
health and wellbeing and to taking action to reduce the health inequalities they experience. We
know this will require partnership solutions, the integration of services and a population health
management approach. This is the long-held and shared commitment of our organisations and we
are proud of the work we have undertaken in pursuit of these aims to date.
At the end of this financial year the CCG will be dis-established and a new NHS Integrated Care Board
(ICB) will be established. The new ICB will delegate significant responsibility to our ‘Place’ Local Care
Partnership (LCP) - Partnership Southwark - for out of hospital services. Over the same period the
Council will recruit to a new Chief Executive. These changes will occur whilst we continue to manage
and recover from the Pandemic.
In recognition of our shared ambition and the period of change ahead of us, we are now seeking to
reaffirm and build on Partnership Southwark agreements with some more detail that we believe
provide a firm platform for effective partnership working for the future.
Existing agreements
1. As outlined in the Partnership’s letter of 29 October 2021 to the ICB Chair Designate - for the
financial year 2022/23 Partnership Southwark (the LCP) should constitute itself as a committee of
the south east London ICB (NHS body) with delegated authority to take decisions about the use of
ICB (NHS) resources only.
2. That the committee should perpetuate current Partnership Southwark Board membership,
including Southwark Council, Guy’s and St Thomas’ Hospital NHS FT, King’s College Hospital NHS
FT, South London and the Maudsley NHS FT and the borough’s Primary Care Networks as a
minimum.

Page 1 of 2

14

3. That NHS delegation should be made to an NHS Place Executive Director, a time limited position
initially for 2022/23, accountable to the ICB Chief Executive Officer and responsible to and
working through the (LCP) committee to undertake that delegation.
4. The NHS Place Director should be recruited and appointed by the LCP and the ICB Chief Executive
Designate and that recruitment to that fixed term/secondment position should begin in January
2022. That Place Executive will be the Southwark LCP member of the ICB Board. In the event
that individual is part-time / holds any other post within the partnership’s organisations, they will
be supported by a Chief Operating Officer role for the borough akin to the model adopted/ to be
adopted in other south east London boroughs.
Building on these agreements
5. That over the same 12 month period Partnership Southwark member organisations including
Southwark Council and the ICB will undertake a structured programme of work, including options
appraisal, to propose and agree a joint approach to both leadership and governance for health
and care in the borough.
6. This arrangement will, if agreed by Partnership Southwark members (including Southwark
Council), include a proposal for the establishment of the LCP as a Joint Committee between the
Council and ICB, with a Place Executive lead for health and care funds and responsibilities, that
will be accountable to both the Council and ICB CEOs.
7. Proposals relating to 2023/24 should be completed and recommended to the Council’s Cabinet
and the South East London ICB by 1 October 2022 and enacted in from 1 April 2023.
In addition to the above we would propose that the LCP committee be co-chaired by an elected
member of council’s cabinet and either a health leader from amongst the committee’s membership
or the current independent chair, supporting from the outset our intention to develop a partnership
across health and local government.
We recognise that governance and deliberation for these proposals will take place through the
Partnership Southwark Leadership Forum, and its shadow LCP governance. We would of course be
happy to discuss these proposals to further develop the clarity and culture needed to enact them.
With best wishes

Eleanor Kelly
Chief Executive
Southwark Council

Anu Singh
Independent Chair
Partnership Southwark

Andrew Bland
Chief Executive Designate
South East London ICB
Accountable Officer
NHS South East London CCG

Page 2 of 2

22

Agenda Item 9

Item No.

Classification: Date:
Open
13 January 2022

Decision Taker:
Health and Wellbeing
Board

Report title:

Better Care Fund 2021/22

Ward(s) or groups
affected:

All

From:

Martin Wilkinson, Interim Place Based Director,
(Southwark) NHS SELCCG
Genette Laws, Director of Commissioning,
Children’s and Adults, Southwark Council

RECOMMENDATION(S)
1.

That the Health and Wellbeing Board formally endorse the Better Care
Fund (BCF) template and narrative plan for 2021/22 (signed off by the
Accountable Officer of SELCCG, the Director of Adult Social Services and
the SELCCG Place Director on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing Board)
submitted to NHS England for assurance on 16/11/21 (appendix 1).

2.

That the Health and Wellbeing board note the 2020/21 year end
expenditure report as set out in paragraph 6 and appendix 2.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
3.

For 2021/22 the annual BCF planning requirements were issued late in
the year (30 September), with a requirement to submit plans for the
national assurance process led by NHSE by 16 November. The plans
were agreed between the council and the CCG and submitted to NHSE
as draft, with the caveat that they would be presented to the next Health
and Wellbeing Board for review and endorsement.

4.

The detailed background to the current BCF Plan is as set out in the BCF
narrative template (appendix 1).

5.

The BCF was first established in 2015/16 as a national policy initiative to
drive forward the integration of health and social care services by
requiring local councils and CCGs to agree a pooled budget and an
associated BCF plan for community based health and care services. It is a
requirement that the Health and Wellbeing Board approve the plan.

6.

For 2020/21 the annual planning requirements were suspended due to
COVID-19 and local areas were asked to roll forward existing agreed

23

plans and provide an end of year BCF report to NHSE. A summary of this
year-end report for 2020/21 is attached in appendix 2, and a link to the full
template is referenced in the background documents section for
information.
7.

Due to the lateness of the planning guidance the 2021/22 plan largely
reflects the existing range of budget commitment rolled forward from plans
previously agreed by the Health and Wellbeing Board.

KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION

2021/22 BCF Plan
8.

Key issues for consideration are set out in the BCF plan template
(appendix 1).

9.

A year-end report on the operation of the BCF will be presented to the
Health and Wellbeing Board in July 2022. This will inform discussions
about the future development of the BCF.
2022/23 BCF

10. At the time of writing this report (04/01/2022), the BCF policy framework
and planning requirements for 2022/23 had not yet been published and a
release date had not been set. The council and the CCG are working on
the shared assumption that the funding levels and planning requirements
will be broadly similar to the current year.
11. It is anticipated that the BCF planning arrangements will become more
aligned with the architecture and objectives of the forthcoming Integrated
Care System (ICS). Within the ICS, local care partnerships such as
Partnership Southwark are expected to play a key role with regards to
promoting the integration of community based health and care services
funded through the BCF. The CCG and council will be examining options
to enhance the scope of the BCF in January, with the objective of using
the pooled budget approach as an enabler of deeper health and social
care integration. An update on the options being considered will be
provided to the board along with the 2021/22 outturn report.
12. The formal proposals for the 2022/23 BCF will be presented to the Health
and Wellbeing Board in due course. The timing of this will depend on the
national process set out in the planning requirements. It has been agreed
as a change in process for 2022/23 that the Health and Wellbeing Board
will meet to discuss the BCF before it is submitted as a draft to NHSE. If
there is not a suitable scheduled meeting of the board a special meeting
will be convened.

24

13. During 2022/23 mid-year reports on the operation of the BCF will also be
presented to the board.
Policy framework implications
14. The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) and the Department for
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) published a Policy
Framework for the implementation of the Better Care Fund (BCF) in 202122 on 19 August 2021. The Framework forms part of the NHS mandate for
2021-22. The government issued the document “BCF Planning
Requirements 2020/21” on 30 September 2021 to local systems requiring
the development of plans at Health and Wellbeing Board level. The
document sets out the purpose of the BCF in terms of driving forward the
national integration agenda. The BCF plan submitted reflects local policy on
integration as set out in the Partnership Southwark Recovery Plan and is
consistent with the national framework.

Community, equalities (including socio-economic) and health impacts
Community impact statement
15. The BCF plan protects current services funded through the core BCF
which provide essential support for people with health and social care
needs. This has benefit to all people with protected characteristics,
particularly services provided for older people, and people with disabilities
and mental health problems. The BCF also funds a range of voluntary
sector services promoting community resilience.
16. Other beneficiaries of this investment are the homecare workforce who
have been paid the London living wage since April 2018 under
Southwark’s ethical care charter. This workforce has a high proportion of
women and those from the black and minority ethnic communities.
Equalities (including socio-economic) impact statement
17. See page 14 of the narrative plan for a discussion of the BCF plan’s
contribution to the equalities objectives of the Partnership Southwark
Recovery Plan.
Health impact statement
18. The Better Care Fund provides funding for a range of community-based
health and social care services which have the objective of promoting
improved health and wellbeing outcomes of all Southwark residents in need
of services.
Climate change implications
19. There are no specific climate change implications covered in the BCF plan.

25

Resource implications
20. Table 1 provides an analysis of the BCF budget for 2021/22, highlighting the
split between schemes led by the council and those led by the NHS.
Table 1: South East London CCG – Southwark: Better Care Fund Plan - 2021-22:

ID BCF
plan

Lead and
budget
holder

Scheme

2021/22

Theme 1 - hospital discharge

CCG

Council

£

£

1

Hospital discharge team

LA

£1,790,453

1,790,453

2

Reablement team

LA

£1,936,738

1,936,738

42

Neuro rehab team

CCG

£193,728

3

Discharge to Assess – council costs

LA

£260,000

260,000

4

Night Owls - overnight intensive homecare

LA

£224,000

224,000

5

Housing worker – discharge team

LA

£50,000

50,000

6

Contingency – council staff

LA

£300,000

300,000

7

Intermediate Care

LA

£1,137,563

Sub-total – hospital discharge

£5,892,482

193,728

1,137,563
193,728

5,698,754

Theme 2- admissions avoidance
38

Community health services enhanced rapid
response and @home service

CCG

£4,644,157

41

Care home pharmacist

CCG

£47,095

CCG

£743,000

CCG

£327,347

39
40

Enhanced Primary Care Access - 7 day
services
Self -management for long terms
conditions

45

Community Equipment Service

CCG

£416,689

46

Behavioural Support LD & Autism

CCG

£100,000

Sub-total

£6,278,288

4,644,157
47,095
743,000
327,347
416,689
100,000
6,278,288

0

Theme 3- community support
8

Home care quality improvement

25

Dementia - Enhanced
support
End of life care

37

Disabled Facilities Grant

24

26
23

neighbourhood

Protect Adult Social Care - Residential
Care
Inflationary Growth - Nursing/ Residential/
Homecare
Sub-total

LA

£1,900,000

LA

£184,177

LA

£152,905

152,905

LA

£1,686,144

1,686,144

LA

£2,010,610

LA

£1,718,954
£7,652,790

1,900,000
184,177

2,010,610
1,718,954
7,652,790

26

Theme 4 – prevention
28

Voluntary sector preventative services

LA

£1,248,251

1,248,251

9

Voluntary sector carers work

LA

£400,000

400,000

10

Carers strategy

LA

£450,000

450,000

Telecare

LA

£566,000

566,000

Community equipment: council cost

LA

£562,000

Unpaid Carers

LA

£100,000

11
12
13

&

22

Sub-total

562,000
100,000

£3,326,251

0

3,326,251

Theme 5 – mental health and learning disability
14

Mental Health Reablement

LA

£151,632

151,632

15

Community mental health services

LA

£655,000

655,000

16,
17,29

Mental Health 3 x posts

LA

£160,000

18

Psychiatric
reablement)

LA

£300,000

19

Mental Health – personal budgets

LA

£600,000

600,000

20

Learning Disabilities – personal budgets
Enhanced Psychological Support for those
with LD

LA

£211,000

211,000

CCG /LA

£249,433

44

Liaison

(AMHPs

and

Sub-total

£2,327,065

160,000
300,000

220,433

29,000

220,433

2,106,632

Misc
27

Care Act Funding

43

Service
development
management

LA
and

change

CCG/LA

Sub total
Total (Core BCF)

£1,000,000
£375,758

1,000,000
330,758

45,000

£1,375,758

330,758

1,045,000

£26,852,634

7,023,207

19,829,427

Improved Better Care Fund grant
30
33
31

Sustaining quality in home care
Re-ablement and intermediate care
including step down accommodation
Improving and investing in local nursing
care

LA

£10,327,850

LA

£999,749

LA

£4,174,334

10,327,850
999,749
4,174,334

32

Transformation fund

LA

£250,000

250,000

34

Residential care for older people

LA

£400,000

400,000

35

Nursing Care for older People

LA

£300,000

300,000

36

Home care for older people

LA

£870,648

870,648

Total (IBCF)

£17,322,581

Grand Total BCF

£44,175,215

0
7,023,207

17,322,581
37,152,008

Note that the full 2020/21 BCF Year End template is available to view via the
link referenced in the Background Documents section below.

27

Legal implications
21. Please see the concurrent report of the Director of Law and Governance
below.
Financial implications
22. See resource implications above and report from Strategic Director of
Finance and Governance below.

Consultation
23. As set out in the section “Bodies involved in preparing the plan” on page 18
of the narrative plan (appendix 1).

SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS
Director of Law and Governance
24.

This report seeks formal endorsement by the Health and Wellbeing Board
of the Better Care Fund (BCF) template and narrative plan for 2021/22
which has been submitted to NHS England for assurance.

25. The report advises that the BCF plan has been approved by the appropriate
senior representatives from the SELCCG and Southwark Council, on behalf
of their organisations and on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing Board, prior
to its submission to NHS England. Formal endorsement of the plan by the
Health and Wellbeing Board is required under the Health and Social Care
Act 2012 and Part L of the Council Constitution.
26. The plan has been subject to consultation, in line with central government
guidance issued in July 2017. It is noted that the formal proposals for the
2022/23 BCF will be presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board in due
course.

Strategic Director of Finance and Governance (EN692122)
27. The Strategic Director of Finance and Governance notes the
recommendations of this report to approve the 2021-22 Better Care Fund
plan. Majority of the plan is the rollover of pre-existing schemes plus the
allocation of additional inflationary increase of £1.29m received in 2021-22
as per narrative plan in Appendix 1. The proposals within this report can be
fully funded within existing resources.
28. The income streams of Better Care Fund and Improved Better Care fund
now represent significant part of the council’s and CCG’s funding streams

28

and now fund in excess of £35m of the Council’s Adults Social Care
budgets. Given that the council and CCG have been jointly incurring
expenditure in relation to these schemes since the start of the financial year
2021-22, it is disappointing that central governments delay to publish the
planning requirements meant that plans for the year are only submitted in
November. The recent Spending Round has confirmed that existing social
care funding will continue next financial year including proposed £500k
growth to IBCF. Whilst this is a welcome development, longer-term certainty
is required if councils and CCGs are to be expected to develop and sustain
meaningful transformation.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Background Papers

Held At
Tooley St

BCF 2021/22 Finance and Metrics
template

Contact
Adrian Ward
Adrian.ward3@nhs.net

https://selondonccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Southwark-BCF2021-22-Planning-Template-V6-amended-submission-3.12.21.xlsx
BCF 2020/21 year end template

Tooley St

Adrian Ward

Adrian.ward3@nhs.net
https://selondonccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Copy-ofBCF_202021_Yearend_Template_v1.0-SE-Final-17.5.21-amended-SA.en_1.xlsx

APPENDICES
No.
Appendix 1
Appendix 2

Title
BCF 2021/22 Narrative Plan
BCF 2020/21 end of year report summary

29

AUDIT TRAIL
Lead Officers Martin Wilkinson, Interim Place Based Director, (Southwark)
NHS SELCCG
Genette Laws, Director of Commissioning, Children’s and
Adults, Southwark Council
Report Author
Version
Dated

Adrian Ward, Head of Place PMO (Southwark), NHS
SELCCG
1.4
04/01/2022

Key Decision? Yes
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES /
CABINET MEMBER
Officer Title
Comments Sought
Comments
Included
Director of Law and Governance
Yes
Yes
Strategic Director of
Yes
Yes
Finance and Governance
List other officers here
Cabinet Member
Yes
Yes
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team /
4 January 2022
Scrutiny Team

30
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

Appendix 1

Better Care Fund 2021/22
Southwark
Narrative template – November 2021

1. Executive Summary
The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a pooled budget held between the council and CCG
that funds a range of core community based health and adult social care services. It
was originally formed in 2015/16 by consolidating a range of existing funding streams
for health and social care. It is a mandatory pooled budget to which the CCG and
Council are required to make stipulated minimum contributions, with minimum
ringfenced minimum amounts to be spent on social care and health. The value of the
BCF for 2021/22 is £44.175m, which includes 5.4% growth.
The BCF plan is required to meet the requirements set out in national BCF planning
guidance, which include a strong focus on the integration of services to improve
outcomes, by supporting people to live in their own home, avoiding admission to
hospital and care homes and ensuring hospital discharge is timely and effective. The
plan is agreed by the Health and Wellbeing Board and subject to NHSE assurance.
The current BCF is based on the 2019/20 plan agreed by the Health and Wellbeing
Board in November 2019. Due to COVID-19 the national BCF planning process was
suspended for 2020/21 and budgets were rolled forward from the previous year. For
2021/22, in the absence of national planning guidance at the start of the year, it was
also agreed to roll forward existing budgets, with some minor adjustments, and
agreements were made on the use of annual growth to address cost pressures and
fund new schemes.
On September 30th national BCF planning guidance for 2021/22 was issued with a
requirement to submit formal plans by 16th November. The planning requirements are
similar to those for 2019/20 and do not necessitate any change to our budget plans.
However there is a change in emphasis relating to 3 new key metrics on which
stretching targets are to be set for the current year. These are: reducing long length of
stay in hospital; increasing the proportion of people discharged from hospital to their
normal place of residence and reducing avoidable admissions to hospital, all in relation
to people who live in Southwark. This replaces the previous focus on the target for
reducing delayed transfers of care which is no longer collected due to changes in
discharge arrangements during the COVID-19 pandemic. These requirements are
currently being processed, however it is recognised that producing a plan this late in
the year after resource decisions have been committed will have limited impact on

Page | 1

31
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

these measures in 2021/22. As a system we will be looking to develop and bed in any
new arrangements in relation to these targets for the 2022/23 plan.

Page | 2

32
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

2. Key changes to the Southwark BCF priorities for 2021/22
The high-level priorities for the BCF are unchanged from previous plans that have
been rolled forward into 2021/22. These are to develop person centred integrated care
that will:





Support timely and effective transfers of care from hospital
Prevent avoidable admissions to hospital and care homes
Support people to live independently and safely in their own home
Provide community support that prevents or delays people from needing higher
levels of support

More specifically for the current year, there are key system priorities that the BCF
supports:










The Partnership Southwark1 Recovery Plan sets out priorities to deliver
borough-wide recovery from the impact of COVID-19 and improve outcomes
for the population, addressing inequalities that have been highlighted and
exacerbated during the pandemic. The BCF is an enabler for the recovery plan
and BCF funded services are key elements of the adult population-based
transformation programmes delivered within the partnership: Live Well (working
age adults), Age Well (older people and frailty) and Care Well (people in care
and residential settings).
The Recovery Plan includes a focus on building on progress made in
partnership working during the pandemic, such as strengthened discharge to
assess arrangement and ensuring the learning from this is locked into service
redesign and delivery.
Strengthening system resilience, with a particular focus on responding to the
additional winter pressures arising from flu, COVID-19 and the backlog of
elective care. Supporting the provider sector to maintain sufficient capacity to
maintain patient flow, in particular the care home sector and domiciliary care
which is facing increasing recruitment and retention challenges is key within
this.
Developing our partnership commissioning and other joint working
arrangements through Partnership Southwark to support the development of
the place based system that will formally come into being when the ICS is
established in April 2022.
Responding to the new focus on reducing length of stay in hospital and reducing
avoidable admissions metrics.

1

Partnership Southwark is Southwark’s place-based Local Care Partnership within the Our Healthier South East
London Integrated Care System (SEL ICS). The partnership brings together acute, mental health and
community trusts, primary care networks, the voluntary and community sector, the CCG and the Council to
transform the way services are planned, designed and delivered in the borough.

Page | 3

33
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

3. Use of the growth in the CCG minimum contribution to the BCF
The growth in CCG minimum contribution to the BCF pool for 2020/21 was £1.289m
(5.4%), in line with overall growth in NHS resources, bringing the total to £25.166m.
Whilst this is obviously welcome the majority of this must be focussed on addressing
inflationary costs pressures rather than for new schemes. It is proposed to invest this
growth as follows:
2021/22 BCF Growth items
£’000
Funding for social care placement inflationary cost pressures*
£750
Community Equipment (ICES) inflation*
£222
Community health services budgets absorbed into BCF
£93
Behaviour Support Scheme (Learning Disabilities and Autism):
£100
Funding for Carers of people with dementia
£100
Self- management (diabetes)
£20
Enhanced Intervention Service adjustment
£4
Total BCF growth
£1,289
*In addition, £197k funding was redirected from existing schemes to ICES costs and
£88k to placements inflation from discontinued schemes.
There was no growth in council contribution in 2020/21, reflecting the unchanged
value of the council Improved BCF grant and Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) that
feed directly into the BCF minimum.
The of BCF total funding by source is shown in the table below.
Total BCF Funding Sources 2021/22
DFG
Minimum CCG Contribution
iBCF

Income
£1,686,144
£25,166,490
£17,322,581

Total

£44,175,215

Page | 4

34
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

4. Overall approach to integration
The overall approach to integration in Southwark is driven through our local care
partnership, Partnership Southwark. The partnership was formed in May 2019 and
brings together a range of health and care organisations with a view to working
together with non-statutory providers and service users/carers in our communities.
The overarching aim is to better join up services and tackle the causes of inequality
and improve the health and wellbeing of Southwark residents. Partnership
Southwark’s Recovery Plan, which was signed off by the Partnership and Health and
Wellbeing Board in September 2020, built on the work of the partnership prepandemic. It sought to use the experience of the first wave to reframe the partnership’s
work programme with a stronger focus on targeted approaches to addressing
inequalities and a quadruple aim of:
Improving population health outcomes and
reducing inequalities

Enhancing people’s experience of care services
and reducing unwarranted variation

Securing a financially sustainable health and care
economy

Enabling compassionate care and supporting the
health and wellbeing of our staff

Aside from short term recovery of services from COVID-19, the plan seeks to refocus
our whole system efforts on tackling the health and wellbeing inequalities that were
highlighted and exacerbated by the impact of COVID-19 on the population. The plan
identifies 4 key population-based workstreams: Start Well, Live Well, Age Well, Care
Well underpinned by key golden threads:

4. Planning for recovery: our golden threads
Neighbourhood focussed -we will continue to focus on place, communities and neighbourhoods; aligning teams and services to our
neighbourhoods wherever possible; focusing on care and support close to home, and keeping families strong by ‘thinking family;
whole family’ in our approach.
Partnership working - We will work in an inclusive partnership, working with non-statutory providers as equal partners – including
the voluntary community sector and carers, and recognising the important role that they play in supporting the health and
wellbeing of our local residents.
Clear decision making - We will create clear, transparent and robust partnership arrangements; minimising duplication with existing
structures/governance and holding each other to account in order to work for the benefit of our population.

Finance - We will align budgets where possible to ensure money is spent wisely so that we can make the best use of the Southwark
pound to improve health and wellbeing.

Data-driven - we will be data, quality and intelligence driven; enabling neighbourhood teams to proactively respond to the needs
and priorities of the local population and measure the impact of what we do – taking an outcomes focused approach and learning as
we go.

Sharing resources - We recognise that in order to delivery on our priorities, we will need to take decisions together on how we will
allocate resources within the local system differently and for the benefit of our shared objectives and populations.
19

Page | 5

35
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

For the full Southwark Borough Recovery Plan visit https://selondonccg.nhs.uk/in-yourarea/southwark/working-with-you-on-our-plans/

Page | 6

36
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

5. Approaches to joint/collaborative commissioning
The Partnership Commissioning Team was restructured in 2020 with new teams
responsible for delivering joint programmes to improve outcomes for the population:
older people and adults with complex needs; children and young people; and healthy
populations. The team is jointly funded with a substantial contribution from the BCF.
The primary care commissioning team is part of the overall structure although not
jointly funded.
With the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 there was little opportunity to build
and bed in the new teams, with staff being extensively redeployed to work on COVID19 related issues, particularly during the acute pressures of wave 1, but also beyond
that, including the vaccination programme. As such a key priority for 2021/22 has been
to establish the teams and their programmes and develop capacity to move to a new
business as usual following COVID-19.
Building a consensus on the approach to integrated commissioning has been a key
organisational development priority, supported by the bi-monthly Commissioning
Strategy and Integration Board which has held workshops and discussions supported
by external partners. This includes planning progress against agreed “road map”
milestones on an integration maturity matrix and the development of integration
demonstrator projects.
Partnership Southwark has agreed an approach to joint commissioning for improved
population outcomes referred to as the Bridges to Health and Wellbeing model that
was developed following extensive engagement. Whilst it was decided not to take a
prescriptive approach to applying the methodology to all programmes, the model
provides guiding principles for all integrated workstreams:
Key principles of the Bridges to Health and Wellbeing Approach
1

2

3

4

5

Organising the population into coherent groups – grouping the population
according to similar patterns of health and care need (i.e. ‘population
segments’) and associated relevant outcomes is a sound basis for developing
a population based approach
Agreeing outcomes for population groups - the development of an agreed
outcomes framework for each population group/ segment, like the approach
used for the frailty, dementia and end of life segment, provides partners with a
common focus
Whole system approach to deliver the outcomes - population health and
wellbeing outcomes can only be fully achieved by all partners working together
as a single Southwark system.
The integrated service models need to be holistic and person focused –
health, care and universal services focussed on working together on the whole
need of a person or population rather than service focused. Co-production of
new service models with the public and the use of personalised outcomes for
individuals in their multi-disciplinary plans is a key element of this.
Prevention - we need to shift resources to prevention if outcomes are to
improve. This will mean sharing the costs, risks and rewards of investment in
prevention opportunities we have identified.

Page | 7

37
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

6

Providers and commissioners will need to work together in new ways with formal and informal alliances where necessary to deliver outcomes on
which they are jointly accountable. This will include high levels of collaboration,
trust, and data and intelligence sharing.
7
Workstreams to be aligned to outcomes frameworks – we need a
structured approach to incorporating the delivery of improved outcomes into
the way services are developed. This covers not just existing and proposed
Partnership Southwark workstreams, but any relevant workstreams and
“business as usual” services.
8
Evidence based and driven by shared data – The new integrated service
models need to be based on in depth needs analysis using shared data on
individuals and populations, mapping of existing services, gaps and
opportunities, knowledge of best practice etc.
9
Aligning resources and commissioning - We need to consider all resources
available for populations to improve outcomes and consider the best way of
configuring them that is the best use of the “Southwark £”.
10 Commissioning for outcomes and contractual changes - There will
inevitably be a need over time for the approach to contractual specifications
and payment mechanisms to shift to reflect the focus on outcomes – however
the need for these to be evolutionary rather than revolutionary is recognised,
with clear mechanisms in place to address system risks
Developing the neighbourhood model in Southwark
A key aim of the integration strategy is to develop local networks of care that can provide
person focussed co-ordinated care to those in need of support. This is summarised in the
extract from the Recovery Plan:

Example of integration in BCF funded services – Intermediate Care
Southwark
Page | 8

38
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

A successful example of improved integrated working in Southwark that illustrates our
approach is the integration of Enhanced Rapid Response, Supported Discharge,
Reablement including the ASC reablement care provider contract and the urgent
social work response (all BCF funded). This has been successfully integrated forming
a single joint team, Intermediate Care Southwark, which provides a simplified and coordinated urgent response system, and is bedding in further in the current year with
plans for further integration between community health and social care being
developed. The approach has been provider led with commissioner involvement on
the board. It involved creating a new team under a single manager with 178 employees
and an annual budget of £5.5m. A key benefit has been the rationalisation and
simplification of numerous complex referral processes into a streamlined approach.
The programme of change was intensive including separate workstreams for; shared
leadership & management; creating the pathway, workflows & teams; developing the
workforce, working culture & staff engagement; shared performance management;
premises and IT. The learning from this process has been captured and disseminated,
including through a workshop for joint commissioners, and taken on board in the
Partnership Southwark change management approach.
During the pandemic the focus of the team had by necessity to focus more on
supporting hospital discharge and avoiding admissions to hospital. During the current
year further development of the model is underway, with the @home (acute hospital
at home) a part of the integrated model.

Page | 9

39
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

6. Supporting Discharge (national condition four)
The BCF budget for 2021/22 funds a wide range of schemes that directly and
indirectly supports the objective of facilitating timely and effective discharge from
hospital and reducing long lengths of stay in hospital.
Schemes explicitly identified as schemes under hospital discharge theme include
hospital discharge teams (including weekend teams), reablement and intermediate
care, discharge to assess, and the housing worker within the discharge team as set
out below.
Scheme

2021/22

Theme 1: Hospital Discharge – I get the
support I need to leave hospital and settle
back at home
Hospital discharge

£1,790,453

Reablement

£1,936,738

Neuro rehab team

£195,529

Discharge to Assess

£260,000

Night Owls - overnight intensive homecare

£224,000

Housing worker – discharge team
Care Act assessment and care management

£50,000
£300,000

Intermediate Care

£1,137,563

Sub-total – hospital discharge

£5,894,283

However, a much wider range of BCF schemes play a key indirect role in supporting
discharge as set out below. This includes substantial budgets for social care home
care packages and care home placements without which discharge from hospital
would be impossible in many cases.
Schemes with a strong indirect link to supporting discharge

£

Community Health Enhanced Rapid Response /@home
Home care quality improvement

£4,644,157

Placement costs - inflation home care and care homes

£1,718,954

Disabled Facilities Grant

£1,686,144

Residential Care

£2,010,610

Community equipment:

£978,6891

Mental Health Reablement

£1,900,000

£151,632

Mental Health discharge worker

£50,000

Mental Health Placement Broker

£50,000

Improved Better Care Fund grant (iBCF)
Sustaining quality in home care
Re-ablement and intermediate care including step down
accommodation
Improving and investing in local nursing care

Page | 10

£10,327,850
£999,749
£4,174,334

40
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

Residential care for older people

£400,000

Nursing care for older People

£300,000

Home care for older people

£870,648

Total

£30,262,767

Review of discharge arrangements
Building on the learning and success of enhanced discharge arrangements put in
place for COVID-19 is a key priority for the system. Southwark is contributing to a
review across South East London which is seeking to understand the discharge
models that have developed, and how they can be sustained in the context of changing
discharge funding arrangements. The review includes a self-assessment of maturity
of local systems, incorporating the criteria of the High Impact Change Model for
reducing delayed transfers, and seeks to highlight best practice and reduce
unwarranted variation in the service offer.
Discharge to assess – development of step-down accommodation capacity
Whilst discharge to the patient’s own home is the preferred outcome it is often the
case that older people are too frail and need to be discharged to a temporary care
home placement for assessment. Due to capacity constraints, suitable placements are
frequently difficult to obtain, and patients end up waiting too long in hospital. To help
address this Southwark has commissioned 16 discharge to assess beds in a local
nursing home with a service model that is specifically geared to support positive
outcomes from the discharge to assess process, starting in the second half of the year.
Commissioning additional nursing care home capacity
Southwark has made significant progress in establishing a block contract with a local
nursing home and increasing capacity within the sector, as well as attracting a new
provider into the borough which in the longer term will reduce discharge delays.
Further integration of Intermediate Care Southwark
Building on the previous success of the integration of council reablement services and
community health rapid response services, the model has been expanded to
incorporate @home services (acute care at home). The service now offers medical
input alongside the therapy, nursing, and support worker offer.
Housing advice worker placed with discharge teams
The BCF continues to fund this new post which helps discharge team navigate the housing
system to help tackle delays associated with Housing. This has been recognised as an
example of good practice.

Page | 11

41
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

7. New discharge metrics in the BCF – performance and plans
A significant change to the BCF this year is the replacement of the previous target on
reducing delayed transfers of care as measured by the number of bed days lost for
patients remaining in hospital after the discharge decision. This indictor was
suspended following the introduction of COVID-19 discharge arrangements and
replaced with a trust specific target to discharge all patients on the same day as the
discharge decision.
The new metrics, on which we are asked to set stretching targets, are set out below
together with information on the baselines, benchmarking and proposed targets.
In terms of target setting for the remainder of this year, a key contextual factor is the
potential for unusually high winter pressures on system capacity that could have an
adverse impact. For example, a combination of Seasonal flu, COVID-19 and the
backlog of elective care, combined with worsening capacity issues in social care
provider services arising from recruitment and retention challenges could impact
significantly on patient flow. Taking this into account it is considered that maintaining
current performance over the winter is an appropriate and challenging target. This
approach has been discussed and agreed with the partnership, which includes our
trusts.
a) Reducing length of stay in hospital, measured through the percentage of
hospital inpatients who have been in hospital for longer than 14 and 21 days
This measure has previously only been reported at trust level, rather than for
borough residents who are inpatients in any trust.
The benchmarking data suggests that Southwark is in the mainstream on these
measures for London.

Page | 12

42
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

Trend

The trend data provided shows that although there is some monthly variation there
was a peak in February, which coincided with a period of intense acute pressures in
wave 2.
In terms of setting a target it is considered that maintaining current performance could
be very challenging given the anticipated capacity pressures on community-based
services over the winter. However, the proposed expansion in capacity of discharge
to assess beds is expected to help offset some of the increase in demand, as is the
additional winter funding being released into the system outside this plan. We are
aiming for an improvement on the forecast position, reflecting our ambition for
improvement. Our ability to achieve this will be dependent on the level of system
pressures arising over the winter, particularly in relation to flu and COVID-19. The
forecast based on historical data (provided by NHSE) and our aspiration for
improvement on that forecast is as set out below:

Q3
forecast

Q3
target

Q4
forecast

Q4
Plan

Proportion of inpatients resident for 14 days or
more

10.6%

10.0%

12.0%

11.5%

Proportion of inpatients resident for 21 days or
more

6.5%

6.0%

7.5%

5.5%

*note: section amended 3/12/21

This target aligns with national standards the trusts have been asked to work to (no
more than 12% patients with length of stay 21 days+).
It should be noted that, as part of our current agreed approach on discharge with trusts,
any Southwark patient who falls into a long length of stay category at a local trust who
is medically fit for discharge, but delayed because of a lack of community provision, is
already subject to daily board round review. In addition, both trusts hold bi-weekly
meetings with senior discharge staff detailing the long length of stay patients to ensure
active case management is progressing to discharge these cases.
b) Improving the proportion of people discharged to their usual place of
residence

Page | 13

43
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

The data provided for the target base line shows that Southwark is already a very high
performer on this measure. It is considered that current performance is optimal and
will be a challenge to maintain, so the target has been set at the average of recent
performance at 95.9%.
BCF metric 8.3: The percentage of people resident in the HWB area who are
discharged from acute hospital to their home using data on discharge to
their normal place of residence - Southwark trend 12 months to August
2021

98% 96.1%
96%
94%
92%
90%

96.1%

96.3%

97.3%

96.6%
95.4%

Swk

95.8%

95.5%

96.6%

96.4%

96.6%

97.3%

London average during period

c) Reducing avoidable admissions to hospital – new BCF metric
Previously the BCF had a target based on the rate of all non-elective admissions to
hospital, which was widely regarded as a blunt measure of the success of the BCF,
hence the move to an “avoidable” admissions measure. The measure used is
admissions for a number of ambulatory care sensitive conditions which it is
considered have the potential to be avoided through strong proactive health and care
in the community.
The BCF funds a wide variety of services that all have a role in helping reduce the risk
of admission to hospital amongst those in receipt of care and support in the
community. Enhanced rapid response community health services and @home
(£4.7m) have a very specific focus on this objective, and many more contribute to this
outcome, for example home care, self-management, enhanced primary care access,
telecare and community equipment.
The neighbourhood model of integrated care being developed under Partnership
Southwark through its Age Well programme is based on providing person focussed
co-ordinated care for people identified as being at risk of admission to hospital, in
particular those with multiple long-term conditions.

Page | 14

44
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

Baseline data and benchmarking

Avoidable admissions rate 2019/20
1200

1069.1

1000
800
600
400
200

City of London
Kensington and Chelsea
Westminster
Tower Hamlets
Hammersmith and Fulham
Hounslow
Hackney
Richmond upon Thames
Barnet
Camden
Bromley
Bracknell Forest
Haringey
Brent
Enfield
Lewisham
Kingston upon Thames
Bexley
Islington
Redbridge
Havering
Greenwich
Harrow
Croydon
Wandsworth
Newham
Ealing
Hillingdon
Waltham Forest
Merton
Southwark
Barking and Dagenham
Lambeth

0

The data provided by NHSE for Southwark patients relates to 2019/20, with no more
recent data being available. It indicates that Southwark is very high for London which
is clearly a matter of concern. However much more analysis is required to understand
how this data was produced and what it means. The SELCCG analytics team have
run a report on the indicator and founds rates to be much lower than that provided by
NHSE, and Southwark are not significantly above neighbouring boroughs in South
East London. Further information has therefore been requested on the new measure
in order to be able to set a more meaningful target.
However, aside from the technical issues with this new measure, the objectives for Q3
and Q4 are still to minimise avoidable admissions, and a suitable trajectory would be
to maintain current performance over the anticipated challenging winter period. This
will be developed when the data is better understood.
Overall, a shift in BCF focus from hospital discharge to preventing hospital admission
is welcome. It is proposed that Partnership Southwark will convene a multi-stakeholder
task and finish group to assess opportunities for improvement in reducing avoidable
admissions. This will include a system self-assessment against the new High Impact
Change Framework for reducing non-elective admissions.
Note: Existing targets (social care measures)
The main template sets out targets on existing social care measures in relation to
reablement outcomes and permanent admissions to care homes. The targets set are
based on the mid-year position on these measures and aim to maintain current
performance over the winter.

Page | 15

45
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

8. Equality and health inequalities.
The Partnership Southwark Recovery Plan sets out the wide range of inequalities in
outcomes experienced by Southwark’s population which were highlighted and
exacerbated by the differential impact of COVID-19 on communities. Addressing
inequalities is at the heart of the partnership’s 4 key population-based programmes.
The BCF funding is a key enabler of the adult’s focused live well, age well and care
well workstreams, funding a significant range of community based health and care
services that are working together to deliver the objectives of the plan.
The Partnership is committed to a data driven population health approach to
addressing inequalities. It draws on intelligence and recommendations from the Covid
19 JSNA and the guiding principles of the health inequalities framework both of which
have been shaped and informed by a range of stakeholders from within the
partnership.
Addressing Inequalities
actively listening and responding to partners and residents
in support of Southwark Stands Together and in building broader community engagement
Safeguarding our communities and those who support them
mitigating and managing any second wave of COVID-19
with dedicated support to those who are vulnerable or at risk

Start Well
supporting children and
young people - “keeping
families strong”

Live Well
supporting working age
adults with joined up
services that tackle the
causes of ill-health and
promote wellbeing

Age Well
neighbourhood-based
networks to keep people
as healthy and
independent as possible in
their home

Care Well
supporting those in care
and residential settings for
older people and physical
disabilities, mental health
and learning disabilities

Contribution to Equalities Act requirements
The BCF funds services that provide a range of essential personalised support for
people with health and social care needs. This has important benefits for people with
protected characteristics under the Equalities Act, many of whom are reliant on these
services, in particular older people, people with disabilities and people with mental
health problems. Other beneficiaries of BCF investment are the homecare workforce
who have been paid the London living wage since April 2018 as a result of BCF
investment in our ethical home care policy. This workforce is mainly made up of
women and those from the black and minority ethnic communities.
Example: Behavioural Support
Although most growth in the BCF in the current year is necessarily focussed on
meeting rising costs of existing services, a new Behavioural Support scheme has been
funded for 2021/22 for £100k. This supports younger people with learning disabilities
and challenging behaviour to remain in the community through the provision of
enhanced psychological support, avoiding placement breakdown and the need to
enter more restrictive placements including secure inpatient settings. This is a group

Page | 16

46
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

with poor health and wellbeing outcomes that the BCF scheme will help address by
enabling a more preventative “all ages” approach to the issues.

Page | 17

47
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

9. Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG):
The DFG service is based within Southwark Council’s Private Sector Housing &
Adaptations Team and delivered through the Home Improvement Agency (HIA).
Although formally part of the BCF pooled budget it is funded by a ring-fenced grant
paid to the council for the discharge of its statutory duties to administer a DFG scheme.
The DFG supports people with disabilities who are owner occupiers (who may be
asset rich and cash poor) and tenants of private rented/housing association housing
by funding physical adaptations to their homes that enable them to remain long term
in their own home in the community, avoiding admissions to hospital and care homes.
As well as major adaptations the DFG also funds a handyperson service which works
closely with the hospital discharge teams to enable people to return home from
hospital when their house needs minor repairs. Under the Regulatory Reform Order
flexibilities Southwark also provide a range of small repairs grants and loans to help
vulnerable people carry out repairs and improvements to their homes.
The Disabled Facilities Grant has a budget of £1.686m for 2021/22. This represents
an increase of 13% on the 2019/20 baseline. Growth has been focussed on securing
an increase in senior occupational therapist capacity to reduce delays and increase
the number of people accessing DFG’s.
93% of the DFG funding is used for housing adaptations, 3.75% funds the dedicated
OT post, whilst 3.25% is used for a handyperson service and repair grants, supporting
hospital discharge.
For 2021/22 the focus for DFG is very much about recovery of services following the
pandemic, thereby contributing to the Partnership Southwark Recovery Plan. COVID19 has had a substantial impact on all DFG services. For the majority of last year
(2020-21) the only cases that could progress were those with emergency type works
such as installing very urgent adaptations (stairlifts, level access showers, specialist
toilets) for people with life limiting conditions or assessed as very urgent by the
Occupational Therapy Team. As from April 2021, the HIA and Handyperson resumed
their full services. To assist recovery, changes were made to the process to reduce
any unnecessary delays. The financial means test for DFG applications has been
temporarily waived, the DFG application form revised/simplified and discussions with
contractors/builders have taken place to ensure they could provide a safe environment
when carrying out building works. The overall delivery process has also been reviewed
and improvements implemented.
Due to the high demand for DFG’s and the impact of the pandemic the HIA had to put
in place a waiting list. There are currently 100 cases on the list. The HIA have put in
place a programme to help reduce the waiting list cases and progress these as soon
as possible.
Other specific areas of improvement:


The DFG service works closely with Adults Social Care Occupational Therapy
(OT) team to ensure plans for adaptations are agreed within 5 days. There are
plans to employ a Senior Occupational Therapist to work alongside the Housing

Page | 18

48
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec





team to help increase the number of OT assessments completed, improve
communication/queries with adaptations on site and build stronger links with
ASC and Health colleagues.
The DFG scheme has been promoted with GP Practice Managers across
Southwark.
A fast track system has been put in place to ensure cases assessed as urgent
or end of life are prioritised.
The Housing team have been trained in falls prevention and provide advice,
support and practical help when visiting older, frail and vulnerable people to
help
prevent
the
risk
of
falls and
potential
hospitalisation

The case studies below illustrate how DFGs can benefit service users:
Ms. E
Ms E (36) has Devics disease; a neurological condition which leads to loss of eyesight
and eventual paralysis. Ms E had been in the National Neurological in hospital for over
a year and could not be discharged until her housing association flat was adapted to
enable her to be cared for. Recently constructed, the flat had basic disability standard
features (wider doors, level access) but the landlord did not have funding for specialist
adaptations. The HIA Counsellor visited MS E at the hospital, completed grant forms
and liaised with the HIA Surveyor and landlord so the Occupational Therapist’s
recommended adaptations of a level access shower and automated door openers
could be fitted. A Disabled Facilities Grant was applied for, HIA oversaw the works
and MS E returned home from hospital for the first time in over a year.
Mrs M
Mrs M (86) very frail with a heart condition, COPD and arthritis. She lives alone in a
Housing Association property. The HIA applied for a Disabled Facilities Grant for a
Closomat (assisted personal cleaning) toilet and a level access shower. The HIA
oversaw the works on site. Mrs M telephoned the HIA recently to say her confidence
and dignity have been restored. In addition to her quality of life being improved, she
has reduced her care package from 2X carers, six days a week to three days a week.
Mr & Mrs F
Mr F (82) has chronic and unstable diabetes resulting in his suffering falls and
blackouts. Mrs F (80) is also unwell but is Mr F’s main carer, also caring for their
disabled adult son. They are private tenants living in the same flat for 50 years. They
were referred to the HIA by their son-in-law. We applied for a DFG, sought permission
from the Landlord and supervised all work on site. Mr F now has handrails to help him
from his front door to the gate, a level access shower and central heating, which
provides a more stable temperature than the gas fires that previously heated the
property. The HIA Counsellor applied for Council Tax Benefit, Housing Benefit and
Attendance Allowance for Mr F. resulting in a significant increase in household income.
Without this intervention it is certain that all three of the residents would have had to
go into care.
Page | 19

49
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

Wider joint working with housing, health and social care
The Partnership Southwark neighbourhood model identifies a wide range of statutory
and voluntary services that have a role in helping people improve their outcomes.
Housing is key within this - and is an especially important partner in Southwark given
the high levels of social housing, particularly amongst older people.
Housing services are engaged in Partnership Southwark’s population-based
programmes where housing issues are relevant to a particular workstream/project and
the Partnership Southwark programme team are a core member of the Housing and
Social Care Partnership Board.
The Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Southwark is currently being refreshed with the
close involvement of housing, health and social care. This will be a key strategy for
the ICS when it is formally established in 2022/23.
Specific examples of joint working include:










The BCF provides additional resources to have a housing advice officer working
within the hospital discharge teams with the objective of addressing housing
related delays as effectively as possible. This has been a considerable success
and rolled out as an example of good practice.
There is a strong link between housing, adults social care and health with
regards to the BCF funded telecare services which the Housing department
provides. For example, the telecare service provides pendant alarms, enabling
a response to people who have fallen to be provided that reduces avoidable
ambulance call-outs. This includes the use of emergency lifting cushions where
necessary to assist the faller.
The ICES equipment issued also helps people live in their home with more
minor adaptations (e.g. bath rails) that complement the major adaptions offer
The ongoing development of joint commissioning arrangements for supported
housing and supported living arrangements for adults with complex needs, and
extra care facilities for older people as an alternative to care homes.
Close working between the council and health on the refugee and asylum
seekers agenda
During the pandemic there were many examples of proactive integrated
working between health, housing and social care which we wish to build on. For
example, in relation to homeless hotels and the vaccination programme in
hostels.

Page | 20

50
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

10.

Bodies involved in preparing the plan

The BCF Planning Group has overseen the development of this plan, including
representatives from the council and CCG. In terms of engagement, it should be noted
that:













The Borough Based Board has been briefed on the situation with regards to
BCF planning for 2021/22. The board includes representatives from public
health, adults and children’s social care, CCG, primary care clinical leads and
elected members.
The BCF plan is an enabler for the wider integration strategy set out in the
Partnership Southwark Recovery Plan. This plan was generated with close
involvement of a range of stakeholders within the partnership across the
council, NHS (including acute and mental health trusts) and voluntary sector,
and was signed off by the Partnership and the Health and Wellbeing Board in
September 2020.
A range of stakeholders are involved in the Start Well, Live Well, Age Well and
Care Well workstreams overseen by the Partnership Southwark Strategic
Board, which will be formally accountable to the Integrated Care Board within
the SEL ICS from April 2022.
The Partnership Southwark Leadership team have been briefed on the planning
process and invited to comments.
Housing are directly involved in the BCF plan, the recovery plan and related
workstreams.
Acute trusts have been asked to comment on the proposed targets on length
of stay.
The BCF plan for 2017/19 on which the current plan is largely based was
informed by detailed discussion at a multi-agency workshop facilitated with the
support of the regional Better Care support team.
The Bridges to Health and Wellbeing model underpinning the Southwark
approach to commissioning for population outcomes was discussed and
developed at a large stakeholder event in 2019, and subsequent workshops to
develop outcomes frameworks.

Page | 21

51
BCF narrative plan updated 3 Dec

11.

Governance arrangement for the BCF

The BCF is agreed between the council and the CCG (having been first agreed
through each organisations own respective governance processes) prior to approval
by the Health and Wellbeing Board. It is also subject to approval through a national
BCF assurance process before being formally agreed.
The pooled budget arrangements are governed by a Section 75 agreement between
the council and the CCG which sets out shared responsibilities to implement the
planned spending as agreed.
The BCF is subject to quarterly and year end reporting to NHSE, reviewed internally
and agreed by the council and CCG before submission.
In Southwark the BCF Planning Group has been set up to oversee the high-level
monitoring of the BCF on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing Board and to agree any
changes to the use of funding. This group includes the Director of Adult Social Care,
the council’s Director of Commissioning for Children’s and Adults and the Borough
Director of the CCG.
Each scheme in the BCF is assigned a lead organisation responsible for the
expenditure on that budget. This budget is managed within the governance
arrangements of the lead organisation.

Fig 1: Governance Arrangements for BCF

Health and Wellbeing Board

Council Cabinet

CCG Governing Body

Council Children and Adults Board

CCG Integrated Governance &
Performance Committee

BCF Planning Group

Page | 22

52

Appendix 2
Better Care Fund – 2020-21 Final Outturn
For 2020/21 the annual planning requirements were suspended due to COVID-19 and
as a result local areas were asked to roll forward existing agreed plans. Plans from
2019-20 were rolled forward and uplift of 5.4% applied to these schemes.
In response to the global Covid-19 pandemic and more specifically the Government’s
discharge requirements guidance to reduce pressure on those hospitals providing
acute services a new scheme was introduced during 2020-21. This service was Covid
19 Hospital Discharge and Admission Avoidance Service. The council arranged for
the provision of Community Based support services to support safe discharges from
hospital at short notice or to avoid admission to hospital. Costs incurred for this service
amounted to £8.06m and these costs were reclaimed following the process introduced
for this scheme.
The total value of the Better Care Fund for 2020-21 was £43m. This is the minimum
spend that is required across both organisations in order to meet the Better Care Fund
minimum contributions set by NHS England. Total Spend for 2020-21 amounted to
£43.2m. In addition to this, £8m relating to Covid 19 Hospital Discharge scheme was
claimed, making the total spend for 2020-21 at £51.2m.
The link to the full 2020/21 BCF end of year template submitted to NHSE is refenced
in the background documents section.

53

South East London CCG - Southwark
Better Care Fund Final Outturn - 2020-21
ID BCF plan

Lead and
budget
holder

Scheme

Annual Plan
2020-21
£

Total Spend
2020-21
£

CCG

Council

£

£

Theme 1 - hospital discharge
13

Hospital discharge team

LA

1,790,453

1,790,453

14

Reablement team

LA

1,936,738

1,936,738

5

Neuro rehab team
Complex Joint Discharge Support &
CHC
Discharge to Assess

CCG

197,886

197,886

CCG/LA

176,120

88,060

CCG

100,313

0

LA

260,000

264,000

264,000

LA

224,000

231,800

231,800

31

Discharge to Assess
Night Owls - overnight intensive
homecare
Housing worker – discharge team

LA

50,000

50,000

50,000

35

Contingency – council staff

LA

300,000

300,000

300,000

15

Intermediate Care

LA

1,137,563

1,137,563

6,173,073

5,996,500

197,886

4,554,780

4,886,128

4,886,128

11
11
36
12

Sub-total – hospital discharge
Theme 2- admissions avoidance
Community
health
services
1
enhanced rapid response and
@home service
2
Care home pharmacist
Enhanced Primary Care Access - 7
3
day services
Self -management for long terms
4
conditions
Covid 19 Hospital Discharge &
7
Admission Avoidance
Sub-total

CCG

1,790,453
1,936,738
197,886
88,060
0

1,137,563

CCG

47,095

49,951

49,951

CCG

743,000

743,000

743,000

CCG

307,000

308,900

308,900

8,063,000

8,063,000

5,651,875

14,050,979

14,050,979

CCG

5,798,614

0

Theme 3- community support
17
33
34
37
28
45

Home care quality improvement
Dementia
Enhanced
neighbourhood support
End of life care

LA

1,900,000

2,147,000

2,147,000

LA

184,177

174,000

174,000

LA

152,905

152,905

152,905

Disabled Facilities Grant
Protect Adult Social Care
Residential Care
Inflationary Growth - Nursing/
Residential/ Homecare
Sub-total

LA

1,686,144

1,686,144

1,686,144

LA

2,010,610

2,030,716

2,030,716

-

LA

885,759

885,759

6,819,595

7,076,524

885,759

1,248,251

1,248,251

LA

400,000

400,000

LA

450,000

450,000

CCG/LA

164,000

0

LA

566,000

566,000

566,000

LA

400,000

400,000

400,000

3,228,251

3,064,251

0

7,076,524

Theme 4 – prevention

18

Voluntary
sector
preventative
services
Voluntary sector carers work

19

Carers strategy

16

ICES Contingency

20

Telecare
Community
cost

10

16

equipment:

council

LA/CCG

Sub-total

337,028

911,223
400,000
450,000

0

337,028

-

2,727,223

Theme 5 – mental health and learning disability
21

Mental Health Reablement

LA

151,632

151,632

151,632

23

Community mental health services

LA

655,000

655,000

655,000

24,25, 32

Mental Health 3 x posts
Psychiatric Liaison (AMHPs and
reablement)
Mental Health – personal budgets
Learning Disabilities – personal
budgets
Enhanced Psychological Support
for those with LD
Sub-total

LA

160,000

187,739

187,739

LA

300,000

300,000

300,000

LA

600,000

600,000

600,000

LA

211,000

211,000

211,000

22
26
27
8&9

CCG /LA

243,200

243,200

214,200

29,000

2,320,832

2,348,571

214,200

2,134,371

1,000,000

1,000,000

Misc
29
6 & 30

Care Act Funding
Service development and change
management
Sub total
Total (Core BCF)

LA
CCG/LA

1,000,000

375,758

343,891

325,166

18,725

1,375,758

1,343,891

325,166

1,018,725

25,569,384

33,880,716

15,125,259

18,755,457

54

South East London CCG - Southwark
Better Care Fund Final Outturn - 2020-21
ID BCF plan

Scheme

Lead and
budget
holder

Annual Plan
2020-21
£

Total Spend
2020-21
£

CCG

Council

£

£

Improved Better Care Fund grant
38

LA

10,327,850

10,327,850

10,327,850

LA

999,749

999,749

999,749

LA

4,174,334

4,174,334

4,174,334

40

Sustaining quality in home care
Re-ablement and intermediate care
including
step
down
accommodation
Improving and Investing in local
nursing care
Transformation fund

LA

250,000

250,000

250,000

42

Residential care for older people

LA

400,000

400,000

400,000

43

Nursing Care for older People

LA

300,000

300,000

300,000

44

Home care for older people

LA

870,648

870,648

870,648

17,322,581

17,322,581

41
39

Total (IBCF)
Additional CCG Contribution
Additional LA Contribution
Grand Total BCF

0

17,322,581

8,123,139

0

0

188,193

0

0

15,125,259

36,078,038

51,203,297

51,203,297

55

Item No.

Agenda Item 12

Classification: Date:
Open
13 January 2022

Meeting Name:
Health and Wellbeing
Board

Report title:

Update on Southwark Council’s Outbreak
Prevention and Control Plan, Winter 2021/22

Ward(s) or groups
affected:

All

From:

Sangeeta Leahy, Director of Public Health

RECOMMENDATION(S)
1.

To receive and note the updated Outbreak Prevention and Control Plan that
outlines the actions being taken to prevent, identify and control the novel
coronavirus pandemic in Southwark.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
2.

Southwark Council published its Outbreak Prevention and Control Plan
(OPCP) in June 2020. In that document, the governance of Southwark’s
OPCP was established as being firstly Outbreak Prevention and Control
Executive (OPCE) and ultimately both the Health and Wellbeing Board and
Cabinet.

3.

This third version of the OPCP sets out our strategic and operational
response to the pandemic and the future for the people of Southwark,
recognising the successes of the national vaccination campaign, changes to
national policy and the reorganisation of both national and regional Public
Health structures.

KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION
4.

As the pandemic and the national response has evolved, so too has our
approach to prevention and management in Southwark. Until the
emergence of the new variant ‘Omicron’, the successful national
vaccination programme had slowed the spread and mitigated the impact
of the coronavirus. Increasingly, attention has been drawn to the impacts
of the pandemic on health and social care services, alongside the
accumulating burden of economic and mental health difficulties that our
local people and communities face.

5.

The Cabinet Office released the COVID-19 Response - Autumn and Winter
Plan 2021 on 14 September 2021. This policy paper set out a number of
objectives relating to non-pharmaceutical measures, test-trace-isolate,
1

56

supporting NHS and social care, health literacy and global action. The plan
also set out a “Plan A” but reserved the right to institute elements of its more
assertive “Plan B” should the need arise. Plan B was instituted by central
government on 8 December 2021. Accordingly, Southwark will continue to
consider how, as a local system leader, we can contribute to the nationallyset policy objectives while protecting and improving the health of our local
residents and communities.
6.

A revised Contain Framework for local decision-makers was published on 7
October 2021. It sets out how national, regional and local partners should
continue to work with each other, the public, businesses, and other partners
in their communities to prevent, manage and contain outbreaks of
coronavirus. The framework describes:
 the roles and responsibilities of local authorities and local system
partners, and the support local authorities can expect from regional and
national teams, as well as the decision-making and incident response
structures
 the core components of the COVID-19 response across the spectrum of
outbreak prevention and management, including to variants
 the requirements of local authorities on the continued COVID-19
response, as well as how this should be factored into local outbreak
management plans (in Southwark, the OPCP).

7.

Since late summer 2020, central government has implemented a range of
changes to the national arrangements for specialist Public Health advice
and support. The formal changes were instituted in October 2021, with the
abolition of Public Health England and the introduction of the UK Health
Security Agency (UKHSA) and the Office of Health Improvement Disparities
(OHID). Strategic health protection responsibilities will rest with UKHSA.
Accordingly, the next several months are critical in re-developing
relationships and re-understanding organisational responsibilities.

8.

While part of the local health protection response for COVID-19 has been
the responsibility of local government through the pandemic, there
remains uncertainty as to how such continued responsibilities and
financial settlement will be agreed between national and local
organisations from April 2022.

9.

In the interim, the OPCE will continue to ensure that Southwark delivers
high quality local health protection response through the acute response
team, Test and Trace Southwark (our local tracing partnership),
surveillance and enforcement activities. Work continues to support NHS,
social care and voluntary sector partners. Planning is also underway for
how we can eventually exit the acute phase of the pandemic and recover
services.

2

57

Policy framework implications
10. See paragraphs (5) and (6).
Community, equalities (including socio-economic) and health impacts
Community impact statement
11. The OPCP involves close collaboration with a range of VCS partners and
explicitly recognises the differential impacts of the pandemic on different
groups.
Equalities (including socio-economic) impact statement
12. Evidence has demonstrated the wide-ranging adverse impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on inequalities. The Outbreak Prevention and Control
Plan supports our commitment to reduce inequalities by monitoring,
identifying and mitigating emerging issues across the policy spectrum.
Health impact statement
13. The COVID-19 pandemic has had hugely significant negative health
impacts for almost all residents and communities. The Outbreak Prevention
and Control Plan seeks to mitigate impacts arising from the pandemic.

Climate change implications
14. There are no major new climate implications of this report.
Resource implications
15. There are no new major resource implications of this report.
Legal implications
16. There are no new material legal implications of this report.
Financial implications
17. There are no additional financial implications of this report above and
beyond the funding provided to local government from central government
through the Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF).
Consultation
18. Not applicable.

3

58

SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS
Director of Law and Governance
19. Not sought.
Strategic Director of Finance and Governance
20. Not sought.
Other officers
21. Not applicable.

4

59

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Background Papers

Held At

Contact

Southwark’s Outbreak Prevention Public Health Division,
and Control Plan (OPCP).
Southwark Council
Southwark Council: London. July
2020, updated in March 2021.

Sangeeta Leahy,
Director of Public
Health
nina.scott@south
wark.gov.uk
https://www.southwark.gov.uk/health-and-wellbeing/public-health/southwarkoutbreak-prevention-and-control-plan-opcp

APPENDICES
No.
Appendix 1

Title
Southwark’s Outbreak Prevention and Control Plan (OPCP).
Southwark Council: London. December 2021.

AUDIT TRAIL
Lead Officer Sangeeta Leahy
Report Author Richard Pinder
Version 0.2
Dated 28 December 2021
Key Decision? No
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES /
CABINET MEMBER
Officer Title
Comments Sought
Comments
Included
Director of Law and Governance
No
Strategic Director of
No
Finance and Governance
Cabinet Member
No
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team /
4 January 2022
Scrutiny Team

5

Southwark’s Outbreak Prevention
and Control Plan (OPCP)
Protecting Southwark amidst the novel coronavirus pandemic
60

Southwark Public Health Division
Environment, Leisure & Public Health

Last updated 20 December 2021

GATEWAY INFORMATION
Southwark’s Outbreak Prevention and Control Plan
(OPCP) – Update for Winter 2021

Status:

Public

Prepared by:

Richard Pinder, Sangeeta Leahy

Contributors:

Sylvia Garry, Jin Lim, Sarah Robinson, Rachel Thorn
Heathcock & Chris Williamson

Approved by:

Sangeeta Leahy, Director of Public Health

Suggested citation:

Southwark’s Outbreak Prevention and Control Plan
(OPCP). Southwark Council: London. December 2021.

Contact details:

publichealth@southwark.gov.uk

Date of publication:

15 July 2020, original version
9 March 2021, updated version
20 December 2021, updated version

Slide 2

61

Report title:

CAVEAT

Slide 3

62

This document is a live document that reflects emerging
threats and guidance as they arise.
Please take note of version control which is indicated by the “Last
updated” statement on the cover slide.

PLAN ON A PAGE
Mitigate the impact of novel coronavirus on Southwark’s population and communities,
focusing on those most at risk.
ENGAGEMENT & COMMUNICATIONS

IDENTIFY

• Work with communities and
settings to prevent transmission,
focusing on those with greatest
vulnerability.
• Implement communications and
engagement plans which are
responsive and reflect current
transmission risks
• Support COVID secure
workplaces, settings and public
areas.

• Embed testing into
communities and settings
• Identify contacts, with a robust
local test and trace function.
• Support self isolation in
contacts and cases including
practical, financial and
wellbeing support.

CONTROL
• Advise on effective outbreak
management
• Contain variants of interest
and concern.
• Support the delivery of the
NHS COVID-19 vaccination
programme (including
boosters)

INTELLIGENCE , SURVEILLENCE & EPIDEMIOLOGY

Slide 4

63

PREVENT

CONTENTS
Executive Summary

7
10

2. The pandemic and legislative context

13

3. Our framework and governance

17

4. How we will operate

21

5. Action plan

26

6. Evaluation, learn and adapt

32

Feedback, appendices & further information

34

Glossary

49

64

1. Purpose: aim and objectives

Slide 5

APPENDICES
37

Further information

48

Slide 6

39
40
42
44
46

65

Appendix 1: Outbreak arrangements
- Southwark, London & national arrangements
- LCRC arrangements
Appendix 2: Outbreak identification & rapid response flow process
Appendix 3: Responding to variants of concern (VOC)
Appendix 4: Test and Trace Southwark
Appendix 5: London Testing Strategy
Appendix 6: Inclusion health

We will protect our communities, with particular focus on
those most vulnerable and adversely affected
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
CONTEXT
It is now more almost two years since the novel coronavirus arrived in the United Kingdom. Over that time
Southwark Council and our communities have worked closely with a wide range of partners across
government, the NHS and voluntary sector.

Across all of our workstreams, community engagement and communication is critical: we will continue to produce and
implement an engagement and communications plan with the dual aims of preventing disease, and mitigating the
impact of the pandemic. Our operational response will continue to involve our three strands of work: PREVENT,
IDENTIFY and CONTROL.
PREVENT
Our prevention efforts have focused on engagement approaches taking an asset-based approach to understanding
and anticipating community needs in the borough. Southwark Council continues to work closely with NHS partners
delivering the local implementation of the COVID-19 vaccination programme. As national policy has evolved to ease
constraints, our local approach will seek to continuously improve wide-spread health literacy while at the same time
focusing our resource on high-consequence settings including among vulnerable groups (such as care homes) and
high-transmission settings (such as in the education sector and mass events). We continue to work closely with health
service partners and the newly established UK Health Security Agency to coordinate health protection advice.

Slide 7

66

Our Public Health response in Southwark began in February 2020 and we published the first version of this Outbreak
Prevention and Control Plan (OPCP) in June 2020. We refreshed that plan in March 2021. This third version of the
OPCP sets out our strategic and operational response to the pandemic for the people of Southwark, recognising the
successes of the national vaccination campaign, changes to national policy and the reorganisation of both national and
regional Public health structures. The pandemic, in particular the emergence of the Omicron variant of concern, will
continue to present challenges for Southwark, London and the country as we head into another winter season.

We will deliver a safe, effective and sustained response
for as long as the virus remains
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
IDENTIFY
Over the last 18 months we have delivered highly-visible testing facilities and locally-focused testing programmes on
top of a locally-led surveillance function that interrogates the results of such testing on a daily basis. Working closely
with the Department of Health and Social Care and NHS Test and Trace, we also operate our local tracing partnership,
Test and Trace Southwark (TTS). The TTS programme provides enhanced follow-up to local residents with a riskbased approach that connects to home-visiting services. Test and Trace Southwark integrates with welfare and support
payment systems so that financially vulnerable residents are enabled to make the safe choice when isolating. We will
maintain capability for surge testing for new variants as required.

CONCLUSION
We will continue to take an iterative, agile and sustainable approach to meet the needs and challenges that
Southwark’s population and communities face with the Omicron variant, as we move towards living with COVID-19 in
the medium-term. We will continue to work with and support partners from across Southwark and London to ensure
they are operating with effective, proportionate and practicable measures in place to move forward.

Slide 8

67

CONTROL
The Public Health team in Southwark Council continues to operate an acute response function, receiving notifications
from a wide variety of local settings including for education and business. Where incidents and outbreaks arise, the
Acute Response Team (ART) works closely with the UKHSA health protection team (LCRC), NHS and other partners
to implement control measures and manage communications with the public. We will continue to build health protection
and infection prevention and control capability within settings, with a focus on care and residential settings, schools and
workplaces.

CONTENTS
Executive Summary

7
10

2. The pandemic and legislative context

13

3. Our framework and governance

17

4. How we will operate

21

5. Action plan

26

6. Evaluation, learn and adapt

32

Feedback, appendices & further information

34

Glossary

49

68

1. Purpose: aim and objectives

Slide 9

FOREWORD
Our borough, our communities and our services have been hit heavily by the pandemic and our most vulnerable
residents have been disadvantaged the most. The pandemic has exacerbated the inequalities that society faces:
so many of which are so stark in Southwark.

The council – together with residents and our local partners – has come together to tackle the impacts of the
pandemic. The emergence of the Omicron variant and subsequent variants will continue to challenge us.

This plan is a live document and will be updated as required reflecting changes in local, regional and national
guidance.
Sangeeta Leahy FFPH
Director of Public Health
20 December 2021

Slide 10

69

As we work together through another difficult winter we will continue to protect those around us who
are most at risk from the impacts of the pandemic. We will ensure our health protection response
continues to be evidence-based, pragmatic, proportionate and sustainable. We will continue to work
with our partners and residents towards a more healthy and more equal future for Southwark.

This document sets out our approach to the pandemic
going forward
AIM AND OBJECTIVES
The aim of Southwark’s OPCP is to continue to mitigate the impact of coronavirus on
Southwark’s population and communities, providing a robust framework for the delivery of
actions, and prepare the way for a safe, healthy and confident return to a new way of life.
In order to achieve this, our refreshed focus will continue to be on:
1.

3.

4.
5.
6.
7.

Slide 11

70

2.

Working with local communities, institutions and partners from across sectors to maximise the
impact of COVID-19 prevention measures across the borough, recognising the inequitable impact
of the pandemic.
Supporting the implementation of testing, tracing and isolation of local residents with support
through practical and financial assistance.
Working with UK Health Security Agency and other specialist partners in the management of
outbreaks and instituting local control measures as they may be required.
Supporting the roll out of the NHS COVID-19 vaccination programme, with a focus on tackling
vaccine hesitancy and underserved groups.
Managing a single point of contact for the exchange, management and interpretation of
intelligence and other epidemiological evidence with local, regional and national assets.
Providing appropriately governed assurance and oversight of how the pandemic is handled in
Southwark to local, regional and national stakeholders.
Using lessons from the pandemic to inform the recovery process and to strengthen local
approaches to tackling health inequalities.

CONTENTS
Executive Summary

7
10

2. The pandemic and legislative context

13

3. Our framework and governance

17

4. How we will operate

21

5. Action plan

26

6. Evaluation, learn and adapt

32

Feedback, appendices & further information

34

Glossary

49

Slide 12

71

1. Purpose: aim and objectives

The national Plan B was instituted on 8 December, in
response to the emergence of the Omicron variant
THE GLOBAL PANDEMIC

Slide 13

72

The novel coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) was first reported in December 2019 in Wuhan, China with the first case of
COVID-19 reported in the United Kingdom in late January 2020.

Since March 2020 Central government has instituted a series of measures to combat the pandemic, including a series of
‘lockdowns’ for all-but-essential functions. As of July 2021 these constraints were relaxed as the impact of the national
COVID-19 vaccination programme was realised.

Local government has been involved in the acute response to the pandemic since the beginning, in particular by
providing relief to individuals at higher risk of disease, by enabling supply of personal protective equipment (PPE) and in
granting financial relief to small businesses.

Local Directors of Public Health were instructed by HM Government to establish local outbreak control plans by the end
of June 2020, along with a range of other new duties which included overseeing testing in care homes and leading the
local implementation of the national contact tracing programme (NHS Test and Trace).

In April 2021 the NHS re-designed its arrangement of Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), with NHS South East
London CCG taking over the responsibilities of NHS Southwark CCG.

Public Health England was abolished at the end of September 2021 with the creation of the new UK Health Security
Agency (UKHSA) and the Office of Health Improvement and Disparities (OHID) with remainder Public Health functions
transferred to other agencies. The UKHSA organisation brings together the previous Health Protection functions of Public
Health England, the Joint Biosecurity Centre and NHS Test and Trace.

Central government funding has been allocated through to March 2022 for upper tier local authorities in England to
support the public health efforts and partnership approaches relating to supporting local test and trace arrangements and
the implementation of the local OPCP including engagement, communications, enforcement and welfare support.

Central government instituted the national “Plan B” on 8 December 2021 in response to the emergence of the Omicron
variant of concern. The Mayor of London, Sadiq Khan, declared a major incident on 18 December 2021 in response the
proliferation of Omicron cases in the capital.

Local government possessed responsibilities and
powers for health protection prior to the pandemic
LEGISLATIVE AND ORGANISATIONAL CONTEXT (1 OF 2)
The legal basis for managing outbreaks of communicable disease (pre-pandemic) is spread across several pieces of
primary and secondary legislation, with the associated responsibilities split across a number of organisations and
professional groups.
Responsibilities

Organisations and professions

The Public Health (Control of Disease) Act
1984

Gives public authorities powers and duties
to prevent and control risks to human
health from infection or contamination

Local Authority Environmental Health
Officers

Civil Contingencies Act, 2004

Sets out the responsibilities of different
agencies in responding to major incidents

NHS organisations, local government and
Public Health England

Health Protection Regulation, 2010

Provides Local Authorities with flexible
powers to deal with emergencies or
incidents where infection or contamination
present or could present a significant risk
to human health. Some powers can be
exercised by Justices of the Peace (JPs)
only.

Local Authority Environmental Health
Team.

Health and Social Care Act, 2012

Requires LAs to appoint a Director of
Public Health and to exercise functions in
relation to planning for and responding to
emergencies that present a risk to public
health.

Creation of Public Health England and
NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups;
move of local Directors of Public Health to
local government

Slide 14

73

Legislation

New legislation confers additional powers and prepares
the way for a new legal basis for local control measures
LEGISLATIVE AND ORGANISATIONAL CONTEXT (2 OF 2)
Since October 2021 the UK Health Security Agency has taken over as the national and regional lead for Health
Protection, subsuming the functions previously held by Public Health England, the Joint Biosecurity Centre and NHS
Test and Trace.

The Health Security (EU Exit) Regulations 2021

Laid before the House on 7 June 2021, and coming into effect from 1 September 2021, this statutory instrument
establishes a new health security regime that supersedes the previous arrangement relating to the European
Union.

The instrument also sets out revised framework for communicable disease control (including notifiable diseases)
and describes an emerging framework of UK health security to be coordinated by the UK Health Security Agency.

Slide 15

74

The Coronavirus Act 2020

The Coronavirus Act was brought forward as emergency legislation designed to facilitate a range of crossgovernment activity in a time of emergency. Within the Act new powers were created for the investigation, isolation
and testing of persons suspected of being infected, with roles for both police and public health officers. A number
of items of secondary legislation relating to Tiers, international travel, face coverings, restrictions, self isolation and
local authority enforcement powers have also been implemented.

Locally there is a is a close working partnership between the Council’s Regulatory Services, Community Wardens,
Public Health and the Police to tackle any enforcement concerns.

Several sections of the Act were revoked on 17 July 2021 as constraints were relaxed.

However, The Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) (No. 3) Regulations 2020 (known as “The
Number 3 Regulations) remain in-place and include powers for LAs to close individual premises, close public
outdoor places and restrict events with immediate effect if they conclude it is necessary and proportionate to do
so, in order to respond to a serious and imminent threat to public health and control the transmission of COVID-19
in its area.

CONTENTS
Executive Summary

7
10

2. The pandemic and legislative context

13

3. Our framework and governance

17

4. How we will operate

21

5. Action plan

26

6. Evaluation, learn and adapt

32

Feedback, appendices & further information

34

Glossary

49

Slide 16

75

1. Purpose: aim and objectives

The focus of our OPCP has been reviewed in light of
emerging national guidance and expectations
REFRESHED PRIORITIES
The Cabinet Office released the COVID-19 Response - Autumn and Winter Plan 2021 on 14
September 2021. This policy paper set out a number of objectives relating to pharmaceutical countermeasures, test-trace-isolate, supporting NHS and social care, health literacy and global action. The
plan also sets out a “Plan A” but reserved the right to institute elements of its more assertive “Plan B”
should the need arise. The national move to Plan B was announced on 8 December 2021 in response
to the emergence of the Omicron variant of concern. Accordingly, Southwark will continue to consider
how, as a local system leader, we can contribute to the nationally-set policy objectives while protecting
and improving the health of our local residents and communities.
76

A revised Contain Framework for local decision-makers was published on 7 October 2021. It set out
how national, regional and local partners should continue to work with each other, the public,
businesses, and other partners in their communities to prevent, manage and contain outbreaks of
coronavirus. The framework describes:
 the roles and responsibilities of local authorities and local system partners, and the support local
authorities can expect from regional and national teams, as well as the decision-making and
incident response structures
 the core components of the COVID-19 response across the spectrum of outbreak prevention and
management, including to variants
 the requirements of local authorities on the continued COVID-19 response, as well as how this
should be factored into local outbreak management plans (in Southwark, the OPCP).
Slide 17

The OPCP will be held by the Outbreak Prevention and
Control Executive (OPCE)
GOVERNANCE
The development and implementation of the Outbreak Prevention and Control Plan (OPCP) is led
by the Director of Public Health and subject to oversight by the Health and Wellbeing Board
chaired by the Leader of the Council.

Southwark Health & Wellbeing Board

Cabinet

Southwark Gold

Chaired by the Leader of the Council

77

Health & Wellbeing Board Vaccination Sub-Group

Outbreak Prevention & Control Executive (OPCE)

Chaired by Cabinet Member for Public Health

Chaired by the Director of Public Health

OUTBREAK
PREVENTION &
CONTROL
PLAN (OPCP)

The Outbreak Prevention and Control Executive (OPCE) has met fortnightly since Summer 2020 and brings
together senior-level staff from across Southwark Council, NHS and other partners. The OPCE is
responsible for implementing the OPCP including advising major control measures such as local lockdowns.
The Vaccination Sub Board brings together key partners to tackle challenges to vaccine take up, rapid roll
out and emerging national policy including the expansion of eligibility across age groups and roll out of
booster vaccinations.

Slide 18

Southwark’s Health and Wellbeing Board provides
member-led oversight
OVERSIGHT
Membership and Leadership
The Health and Wellbeing Board is chaired by the Leader of the Council. The membership includes the
Cabinet leads for public health, community safety, education, children and adult social care, and senior
officers of the Council, local NHS Trusts and the VCS.

Frequency
 Health and Wellbeing Board meets every 6-8 weeks
 Outbreak Prevention and Control Executive meets every 2 weeks
 The Vaccine Sub Group meets fortnightly.

Slide 19

78

Oversight function
 Receive and review reports on activity and decisions from the Outbreak Prevention and Control
Executive (OPCE) relating to the implementation of the Outbreak Prevention and Control Plan
(OPCP) and stakeholder engagement.
 Provide feedback to the OPCE and the work programmes OPCE supervises within the scope of the
OPCP.
 Provide assurance back to the Health and Wellbeing Board and Cabinet, and in so doing, the public
that we serve.

CONTENTS
Executive Summary

7
10

2. The pandemic and legislative context

13

3. Our framework and governance

17

4. How we will operate

21

5. Action plan

26

6. Evaluation, learn and adapt

32

Feedback, appendices & further information

34

Glossary

49

Slide 20

79

1. Purpose: aim and objectives

The OPCE oversees eight operational groups which scale
and provide mutual aid as needs arise
OPERATIONAL APPROACH
OUTBREAK PREVENTION AND CONTROL EXECUTIVE (OPCE)

CONTROL

IDENTIFY

ENGAGEMENT AND
COMMUNICATIONS
GROUP (ECG)

ASYMPTOMATIC
TESTING STEERING
GROUP

COVID-SECURE
PREMISES &
ENFORCEMENT

TEST AND TRACE
SOUTHWARK (TTS)

ACUTE RESPONSE
TEAM (ART)*

ACCOMMODATION –
BASED SERVICES
CELL

80

PREVENT

For local
contact
tracing

Specialist advice

Notifications

VACCINE
SUB-GROUP

INTELLIGENCE GROUP (ING)

London Coronavirus
Response Cell (LCRC)
Health Protection Team

Joint Biosecurity Centre

The Acute Response Team (publichealth@ inbox) operates five-days-per-week (with the option
to return to seven-day working if required) and with escalation to a consultant where necessary.
Operational teams / groups
* - The Acute Response Team (ART) will convene an Incident Management Team (IMT) where needed.
Slide 21

Southwark is working hard to coordinate activity across
key partners, and collaborating with stakeholders
Wider stakeholders:
Southwark, SE London and London

Care home and domiciliary
care providers

Schools

Other communities of
geography and of
interest

Voluntary
sector

NHS provider
partners

Transport infrastructure
and partners

A framework for joint working and shared protocols between the UKHSA London Coronavirus Response Centre
(LCRC) and the public health structures in London Local Authorities (LAs) for managing COVID-19 outbreaks, complex
settings and community clusters is being agreed.
The LCRC group will remain the source of specialist and there will continue to be close operational working between
LCRC and Southwark’s public health division in managing cases and outbreaks.
Slide 22

81

Key partners

COLLABORATIVE WORKING

We adopt a low threshold for taking preventive or
anticipatory action, based on available capacity
TRIGGERS & CONTEXTS

IMT – Incident Management Team: An IMT will be convened on an as-required basis.
In Southwark’s process the determination shall be made by the Acute Response Team.

Slide 23

82

Community outbreaks and clusters are defined as an increase in cases above
expected or two or more cases linked by time, place or person.
 Community clusters are identified by Southwark’s local surveillance,
notification or from UKHSA LCRC: a number of positive tests in a locality or a
common site or activity; or symptoms of COVID-19 / requests for tests from a
number of people in a locality or a common site or activity.
 Community settings include workplaces, community halls and spaces, faith
groups, shops and places of entertainment (including food premises).
 Appendix 1 sets out the division of leadership responsibilities between
Southwark and UKHSA.
 Appendix 2 sets out the process for outbreak identification and rapid response
 Appendix 3 sets out the response to Variants of Concern (VOC)

The Acute Response Team review notifications and act to
institute control measures where necessary
INCIDENT MANAGEMENT

Led by public
health consultant

Supported by
public health
specialist staff

Calling upon specialist
advice from UKHSA

Actions undertaken
by environmental
health staff
Supported by
communications staff
Incident declared by
Acute Response
Team (ART) with
Southwark / and or
SE London IMT

Liaison staff members
and other colleagues
where appropriate

Calling upon specialist
advice from NHS
(including infection
prevention and control)

Incident Management Team convened
Slide 24

83

Notification
received

CONTENTS
Executive Summary

7
10

2. The pandemic and legislative context

13

3. Our framework and governance

17

4. How we will operate

21

5. Action plan

26

6. Evaluation, learn and adapt

32

Feedback, appendices & further information

34

Glossary

49

84

1. Purpose: aim and objectives

Slide 25

ACTION PLAN: PREVENTION
Outbreak Prevention Control Plan

Mission &
objectives

Prevent transmission with a focus on communities most at risk.




Resourcing

Chaired by the Director of Public Health, with senior level membership including (but not
limited to) Director of Commissioning, Director of Education, Director of Children's’ Services
and NHS Borough Director, Consultant (Health Protection), Director of Communities, Head of
Communications and VCS.

Rhythm and
reporting

Fortnightly meeting
Reports regularly to the OPCE and Health and Wellbeing Board.
Slide 26

85

Priority activities
& deliverables

Continued adherence to public health advice, including non-pharmaceutical interventions
to prevent the spread of variants including Delta and Omicron
Supporting COVID-secure businesses, settings and public areas, including enforcement.
Continuing community engagement and communications with communities most
impacted:
- Leverage our expansive network of community champions including Community
Ambassador programme to target COVID prevention communications
- Monitor the impact of our communications, and adapting our plans and approach
accordingly
- Continue to help treat and prevent chronic conditions in the most affected groups,
and support to reduce this inequality in the long run.
- Support existing PH initiatives and messages to make sure we focus on social
determinants of health to avoid widening inequality.
- Support the integration of health and social care which provides an opportunity to
create a structured, coordinated, and strategic community support approach for
people with single or multi-illness and their caregivers.

ACTION PLAN: TEST, TRACE AND ISOLATE
Outbreak Prevention Control Plan

Priority activities &
deliverables

Testing
 Scaling up asymptomatic testing in Southwark through combination of mass testing centres, high
street pharmacy provision and community collect, prioritising where transmission risk is higher.
 Adapting the testing offer to target hard-to-reach groups drawing on community engagement and
communications campaigns that resonate and bringing testing closer to Southwark residents.
 Optimising testing capacity in partnership with DHSC to flexibly respond to local need.
Contact tracing
 The continued development and enhancement of Test and Trace Southwark’s effectiveness as a
collaboration of Public Health, Call Centre, Housing and Regulatory Services staff.
 Expansion of welfare and other support to facilitate greater adherence to isolation advice across
people in Southwark
 Appendix 4 sets out the test and trace flow process in more detail and Appendix 6 Inclusion
Health

Resourcing

Chaired by a public health specialist with leadership shared jointly between Communications and
Community Engagement. Additional communications capacity has been requested in the TTS
Business Case. Asymptomatic testing steering group and programme management.

Rhythm and
reporting

TTS-DG Test and Trace Southwark Delivery Group (fortnightly)
Weekly Asymptomatic Testing Steering Group (and less frequent stakeholder meetings)

Slide 27

86

Mission &
objectives

Embed testing behaviours across the community and within settings and support cases and
contacts to self isolate. Our objectives align with the London Testing Strategy (Appendix 5)

To find people who have the virus, trace their contacts and ensure both self-isolate to prevent
onward spread

Surveillance, including identification of new variants

To investigate and manage outbreaks

To facilitate safe economic activity

ACTION PLAN: OUTBREAK AND VARIANT CONTROL
Outbreak Prevention Control Plan

Priority activities &
deliverables

• Ensure there is capacity to investigate and manage VOC/VUI cases and contacts as necessary
• Establish and lead IMT to investigate and manage VOCs/VUIs cases and clusters with enhanced
case and contact tracing, and targeted testing (community or setting focussed) including surge
testing where required. Appendix 3 sets out the more detailed response to VOC/VUI
• Continue to provide local support to settings in managing cases, clusters and outbreaks,
supporting regional health protection infrastructures.
• Provide local support to ensure workplaces and public areas are COVID secure, with regulatory
and enforcement action as necessary.
• Provide expert oversight, advice and assurance of pandemic prevention and outbreak for care
home, care at home and supported living through the Accommodation Based Services cell
(ABSC). The ABSC will be jointly chaired by Public Health and Adult Social Care.

Resourcing

Led by a public health consultant with operational resource coming from Public Health, Regulatory
Services and NHS infection prevention and control.

Rhythm and
reporting

Weekly operational meeting.
Reports regularly to OPCE.

Slide 28

87

Mission &
objectives

Working with UKHSA and the NHS, deliver a specialist response (including infection
prevention and control and health protection advice) that proactively identifies and manages
outbreaks.
 Dynamically identify, characterise and respond to specific risks arising in communities and
settings and work with them to mitigate these risks.
 Work with local community groups to provide guidance and capacity building across Southwark’s
statutory, voluntary and private sector.
 Work with business premises to ensure COVID-19 biosecurity where viable and respond to
enforcement issues where a legal basis permits.

ACTION PLAN: SUPPORTING NHS VACCINATION PROGRAMME
Outbreak Prevention Control Plan

Priority activities &
deliverables

 Reducing inequalities of access, including a comprehensive programme of outreach to provide and
promote vaccination in communities with low uptake
 Community engagement and communications to address vaccine hesitancy.
 Using vaccine uptake data to shape our approach and ensure robust roll-out of the booster
campaign(s)
 Supporting programme delivery, call and recall to increase uptake and reduce inequality in uptake.
 Training and capacity development.

Links

Borough Vaccination Delivery Plan
Vaccination Strategy
Communications and Engagement

Rhythm and
reporting

Weekly operational meeting
Fortnightly Strategy Coordination Group
Reports regularly to OPCE and Health and Wellbeing Vaccination Sub Board
Slide 29

88

Mission &
objectives

Support the implementation of the NHS COVID-19 vaccination programme by working across
partners and communities to ensure equitable take up.
 Residents understand the risks that COVID-19 poses to themselves, their families and their
community.
 Residents have confidence that the vaccine is safe and effective.
 Being vaccinated is made as easy as possible for all residents.
 Communities and residents feel empowered by engagement approaches and lead on and have
participation in shaping communications about the vaccine.
 Information gaps are filled and misinformation is corrected in an accessible way to all communities.
 The programme reduces inequalities in vaccine coverage.

ACTION PLAN: INTELLIGENCE GROUP
Outbreak Prevention Control Plan

Priority activities &
deliverables

 Ensure timely testing data is available to stakeholders and work with the Acute Response hub to
identify lower uptake of testing and prioritise areas for intervention.
 Support the analysis of vaccination uptake data to ensure stakeholders can identify and prioritise
areas and groups with lower uptake.
 Identify key risk sites within the borough including schools, care homes and other venues.
 Continue to monitor acute impact of COVID-19 on different population groups and communities
wherever possible.

Resourcing

Led by the Head of Public Health Intelligence with operational resource coming from the Public
Health Knowledge & Intelligence Team and wider Public Health Division.

Rhythm and reporting

Daily operational meeting.
Reports regularly to: Lead Member Briefing, Cabinet & Gold, OPCE, Health & Wellbeing Board,
Health & Wellbeing Board Vaccination Sub-Group, Vaccination Coordination Group, Communication
& Engagement Group.

Slide 30

89

Objectives

Support an intelligence and evidence guided response to COVID-19 within the borough
through the development of a hub for intelligence and epidemiology relating to the outbreak.
 Establish operating procedures for the flow and management of information relevant to managing
COVID-19 testing, cases, outbreaks and vaccination in the borough.
 Identify key monitoring indicators and escalation criteria for reporting to OPCE, HWB, Gold & SE
London.
 Coordinate and respond to queries relating to intelligence and epidemiology.
 Continue to provide analytical support to the pillars of the outbreak control plan.

CONTENTS
Executive Summary

7
10

2. The pandemic and legislative context

13

3. Our framework and governance

17

4. How we will operate

21

5. Action plan

26

6. Evaluation, learn and adapt

32

Feedback, appendices & further information

34

Glossary

49

90

1. Purpose: aim and objectives

Slide 31

A range of evaluation methodologies will continue to be
deployed throughout the OPCP implementation
MONITORING AND EVALUATION APPROACH

Corporate governance and reporting
 Narrative, output and outcome milestones for the Outbreak Prevention and Control
Plan have been proposed for the new Council Plan.
 A minimum dataset for recording and monitoring performance has been developed
with the Intelligence Group. This enables on-going performance reporting to OPCE,
Cabinet, Health and Wellbeing Board and other governance groups. Various themes
have also been considered by Overview and Scrutiny.

Slide 32

91

Formative evaluation and our approach to learning
 A rolling cycle of quality improvement has been initiated by thematic and action plan
areas with the whole system OPCP evaluation and learning event taking place in
January 2021.
 Additional work is now being undertaken to explore and improve the operations in
both ART and TTS.
 A Logical Framework approach to the OPCP’s evaluation has been developed to
align the monitoring and evaluation work across elements of the plan.
 Lessons are being shared with participation in the London Good Practice Networks.

CONTENTS
Executive Summary

5

1. Purpose: aim and objectives

8
11

3. Our framework and governance

16

4. How we will operate

19

5. Action plan

24

6. Evaluation, learn and adapt

30

Feedback & Appendices

33

Slide 33

92

2. The pandemic and legislative context

The OPCE will continue to adapt the OPCP to ensure it
best reflects the context, evidence and guidance
FEEDBACK AND CONTACT
Despite the current vaccine roll-out, it is likely that population-level control measures will
require continual adjustment and will include testing, tracing, NPI (non pharmaceutical
interventions), enforcement and strong communications and community engagement



Throughout this we must carefully monitor inequalities arising immediately, and anticipate inequalities
likely to arise in the future. Creating a fairer and more equal society is an opportunity that this
pandemic poses.

The Outbreak Prevention and Control Executive welcomes all parties in supporting and
contributing to our collective effort amidst this challenging time.
We welcome your comments and your feedback at publichealth@southwark.gov.uk.

Slide 34

93

Enacting local control measures is critical to enabling as much of the population to go about their
usual business and interactions as possible.
The broader economic and societal implications of the pandemic and its control measures will be
experienced for many years into the future.

Southwark’s Outbreak Prevention
and Control Plan (OPCP)
Appendices
94

Southwark Public Health Division
Environment, Leisure & Public Health

List of appendices
Additional information is provided in the following appendices

95

Appendix 1: Outbreak arrangements
Southwark, London & national arrangements
LCRC arrangements
Appendix 2: Outbreak identification & rapid response flow process
Appendix 3: Responding to variants of concern (VOC)
Appendix 4: Test and Trace Southwark – flow process
Appendix 5: London Testing Strategy
Appendix 6: Inclusion health

Slide 36

Appendix 1: Southwark, London and national roles
Level

Place-based leadership

Public health leadership
DPH with the UKHSA SLHPT together to:


Local Authority Chief Executive, in partnership with Director of Public
Health and UKHSA SLHPT to:
Southwark




Sign off the Outbreak Management Plan led by the DPH
Bring in wider statutory duties of the LA (e.g. DASS, DCS,
CEHO) and multi-agency intelligence as needed



Hold the Member-Led Covid-19 Engagement Board (or other
chosen local structure)



Produce and update the Outbreak Management Plan and engage
partners (DPH Lead)
Review the data on testing and tracing and Vaccine uptake data



Manage specific outbreaks through the outbreak management teams
including rapid deployment of testing



Provide local intelligence to and from LA and UKHSA to inform tracing
activity



DPH Convenes DPH-Led COVID-19 Health Protection Board (a regular
meeting that looks at the outbreak management and epidemiological
trends in the place )
Ensure links to LRF/SCG



96

Regional team (UKHSA, OHID, London councils and ADPH lead)


London

Support localities when required when required on outbreaks
or specific cases or enduring transmission or substantial
cross-boundary



Engage NHS Regional Director and ICSs



Link with Combined Authorities and LRF/SCGs



Have an overview of risks issues and pressures across the
region especially cross-boundary issues

OHID Regional Director with the ADPH Regional lead together



Oversight of the all contain activity, epidemiology and Health Protection
issues across the region including vaccine uptake
Sector-led improvement to share improvement and learning



Liaison with the national level

UKHSA Director of Health Protection (including engagement with CMO)
Contain SRO and UKHSA Director of Health Protection
England



National oversight for wider place



Link into Joint Biosecurity Centre especially on the wider
intelligence and data sources





National oversight identifying sector specific and cross-regional issues
that need to be considered
Specialist scientific issues e.g. Genome Sequencing
Epidemiological data feed and specialist advice into Joint Biosecurity
Centre

Slide 37

LCRC – Southwark Response
Case and contact
investigation
management

Southwark Council Public Health

UKHSA
LCRC and South London Health Protection Team





Receive notifications of cases via national test and trace route
Investigate and manage cases and contacts as per local SOPs
Escalate to LCRC/HPT if meets criteria as agreed in national
test and trace protocols
Provide support packages as required



Investigate and manage VOC/VUI etc cases and contacts – at
present those lost to follow up
Establish and lead IMT to investigate and manage VOCs/VUIs
cases and clusters with enhanced case and contact tracing,
and targeted testing (community or setting focussed) including
surge testing




VOCs (or other
cases of concern)










Receive notifications of cases via clinical leads / local
authority leads if meet the criteria as agreed in national test
and trace protocols
Investigate and manage high risk cases and contacts as per
local SOPs

Enhanced contact
tracing (Cluster)
investigation and
management





Investigate, identify priority clusters
Manage clusters as per relevant settings SOPs
Chair IMTs if required





Overview of cluster identification and management
Overview management of priority settings
Attend IMTs if required

Settings
(care homes
workplaces,
schools, ports,
prisons, homeless
etc)



Receive notification of cases and clusters via a number of
different routes
Investigate and manage cases and clusters in settings.
Provide advice and support around contact tracing, isolation,
infection control practices, COVID safe environments and
testing etc including written resources.
Chair IMTs if required
Develop and provide communications to stakeholders
Liaise with the ICS, GPs and other healthcare providers to
provide ongoing healthcare support to setting



Receive notification of cases and clusters via a number of
different routes
Overview and
investigate and manage cases and clusters in high priority
settings
Review and update resources
Provide advice and support around contact tracing, isolation,
infection control practices, COVID safe environments and
testing etc including written resources.
Attend IMT if required
Develop and provide communications to stakeholders
Liaise with the ICS, GPs and other healthcare providers to
provide ongoing public health support to setting















Slide 38

97

Investigate and manage initially VOC/VUI etc cases and
contacts as per local SOPs
Liaise with LA contact tracing for help with no contact cases
Investigate and manage any identified settings
Advise and support LA IMT to investigate and manage
VOCs/VUIs cases and clusters with enhanced case and
contact tracing, and targeted testing (community or setting
focussed) including surge testing

Outbreak
Identification
&
Rapid
Appendix 2: Outbreak Identification and Rapid Response
Response
Framework Framework
•
•
•
•
•

PowerBI integrated reports & analytics
Toolkit- standard operating procedure CE reports
NHST&T App – Using Alerts to warn and advise
Operational Playbook for post ECT actions based a
set of key principles
iCERT- Interactive Common Exposure Review Tool

•
•

Tools

•
•

Baseline & benefits realisation
Build out the operational and
data flows analysis processes
Agree monitoring metrics for
COVID-19 cluster detection
and response
Develop reporting platforms

Regional/
Local
Planning

Measure
Impact

Outbreak
Identification
& Response
•
•
•

•
•
•

Identify agile resourcing models to
support end-to-end ECT process
Capability & capacity building
including provision of training
National resource

98

•
•

HPTs & LAs co-design ECT
operating plan/s
Increase usage of or effectiveness
of using reports, tools & resource

•

Resource
Support
Models

ECT Explainer
Regular touchpoint meetings
Coordinated “Newsletter” approach
across T&T
Develop a suite of Communications
utilising appropriate delivery platforms

Communication

Slide 39

Appendix 3: Responding to Variants of Concern (VoCs)
Mutations and variants of the Covid-19 virus can present a significant risk. As well as potentially being more transmissible and leading to more
severe clinical consequences for individuals, mutations also present the possibility for Covid-19 variants to more effectively bypass naturally
acquired immunity and/or reduce the effectiveness of current vaccines and therapeutics
Local Authorities, alongside and with the support of UKHSA and OHID at regional and national levels, have a key role to play in the
investigation, management and control of COVID-19 variants designated as ‘Variants of Concern’ or VOCs. The overarching purpose is to
restrict the widespread growth of VOCs in the population by:

1.
2.

detecting, tracing and isolating cases to drive down overall community transmission, and
case finding additional VOC cases through whole genome sequencing to help assess the risk of community transmission
and determine what further interventions and actions are necessary to contain the variant.

Following the identification of a VOC, UKHSA London’s Coronavirus Response Cell (LCRC) will conduct the initial investigation to gather
additional information, complete a minimum data set and establish whether there are epidemiological links to countries of concern. Those
VOCs without an epidemiological link will require wider investigation and response, and this will be determined jointly between the Local
Authority, on the advice of the DPH, and UKHSA South London Health Protection Team.
The combination, scale and focus of the tools deployed to investigate and control VOCs will be locally led, informed by the data and risk
assessment, current epidemiology, knowledge of the local community and grounded in health protection principles and specialist health
protection advice. Plans will need to be flexible and adaptable to different circumstances, such as the geography, communities or settings in
scope.
The planned local response to a VOC(s) will need to be reviewed and supported by UKHSA National VOC Bronze to ensure the response is
appropriate to the assessed risk and, critically, that the national support required for implementation of the plan (e.g. whole genome
sequencing, surge PCR testing) can be mobilised within available national capacity.
The figure overleaf gives a high level representation of this process, and describes the measures and interventions that boroughs
should consider deploying as part of their local VOC response.

Slide 40

99

All local authorities need to be prepared to quickly mobilise a suite of appropriate measures if a VOC is identified in their Borough, including
local “surge” testing, and complemented by action to trace contacts and isolate cases as part of a wider strategy to control overall transmission.

Responding to Variants of Concern (VoCs)

Possible
responses

1

2
UKHSA
LCRC/South
London
Health
Protection
Team
undertakes
initial
investigation
of case (s)

4
If no travel or
other epi link
can be
established, an
IMT is convened
with the LA to
determine
appropriate
actions

Whole Genome
Sequencing
National VOC
Bronze
agrees to
recommendat
ions and
implementati
on

Surge testing
around the index
case
Surge testing
based on contract
tracing
Whole Borough
interventions as
necessary

Slide 41

100

VoC
identified by
the National
Variant
Taskforce

3

Appendix 4: Test & Trace Southwark (TTS): Local Contact
Tracing Partnerships
PROCESS FLOW
Activities/
Contacts
registered in NHS
T&T

Invite to
the Digital
Journey

Invite sent for
autocomplete

Yes – no action

Case made
available to call
agent

Under 18’s go straight
into Contact Centre –
they are not invited in
the Digital Journey

Digital
Journey
complete
?

Takes 8 hours off
the journey to the
Local Authority

Max. 24 Hours

No

LA & Tier 2 escalation process remains

Contact made within 24
Hours and/or 10 Call
Attempts
Yes

Call Agent
Contacts Case

Can take up
to 24 Hours
for case to
reach LA

Success
?

Activities/
Contacts
registered in NHS
T&T

101

Positive Case
enters NHS T&T

Digital Journey Complete

No

Case Transferred
to LA

< 96 Hours with LA

In the new process:
 The Index Case record is made available to the National Contact Centre at the same time as the first invite is sent for the
Digital Journey
 Call agents will be required to check if the Index Case has completed the digital journey before contacting the case.
 If contact is not made within 24 hours and/or 10 call attempts the Index Case is transferred to the Local Authority.
New process introduced from 1 March 2021
42

 Improved Common  Toolkit
Exposure Reports  Training to
 Postcode
interpret reports
Incidence Reports  Toolkit training
 ICert

 National Resource Local Based Contact
Tracers
 National Resource Local Based Health
Professionals
 Mobile Testing Units
 Postcode pushHome Channel

 Regular touchpoint 
meetings and Comms
 National Resource - 
Local Based Contact
Tracers

Slide 43

Capability and
capacity building
National
Resource - Local
Based Contact
Tracers

102

Support
levers

Enhanced Contact Tracing

Appendix 5a: London Testing Strategy
AIMS AND PURPOSE OF TESTING


To find people who have the virus, trace their contacts and ensure both self-isolate to prevent onward spread



Surveillance, including identification for vaccine-evasive disease and new strains



To investigate and manage outbreaks



To enable safer re-opening of the economy

• Symptomatic patients that arrive in a
hospital setting
• Asymptomatic patients to support
infection prevention & control e.g.
elective care, inpatient care, mental
health, maternity and discharge
planning
• Symptomatic NHS frontline staff and
in an outbreak situation and
household members
• Routine testing of asymptomatic
NHS staff and contractors
• Intermittent testing of nonsymptomatic NHS staff e.g. as part
of SIREN study

Pillar 2 (Mass
Population/Community)
Mass symptomatic PCR swab testing
(RT-qPCR) and asymptomatic VOC
surge testing
• 5 Drive-thru Regional Test Sites
• 28 MTUs and 8 reserves available
across London for routine testing
and surge capacity deployment
• 86 LTS across 32 Boroughs
• Home Testing Kits
• Regular whole care home
asymptomatic testing; weekly for
staff, every 4 weeks for residents
• CQC-registered domiciliary care
provider weekly staff testing

Pillar 2 (Mass
Population/Community)
Asymptomatic rapid antigen testing
(Lateral Flow Device tests)

•

LFD tests delivered through 1,239
asymptomatic testing sites
•
New Community Collect programme
launches 1 March
•
Focus first on parents and bubbles of
secondary school children
Other settings:
•
National pilots/programmes
•
Workplaces
•
FE students
•
NHS staff
•
Private sector testing
•
Adult social care: visitors, visiting
professionals, rapid outbreak testing,
domiciliary care, extra Care and
supported living, and personal
assistants employed by someone who
needs care

44

103

Pillar 1 (NHS Settings)
PCR swab testing and LFD antigen
testing in PHE and NHS labs
(RT-qPCR, LAMP & quicker testing

Appendix 5b: Southwark Lateral Flow Testing
Targeted use of rapid LFD testing:
• Locations with higher prevalence/ evidence of infection rates
in Southwark.
• Key and essential workers including council staff, teachers,
local businesses and retailers, busy / crowded areas

• Under vaccinated neighborhoods and communities
• Areas where is there under testing
• Outbreak management / break the chain of ongoing transmission

DfE

High Street
Pharmacies

Assisted test

Schools

Asymptomatic
Test Sites

Assisted test
 North
 Central
 Mobile
 By arrangement

Universities

Care
Homes

Community
Collect

Door Drop

Libraries
Pharmacies

Targeted
neighbourhoods /
estates
By arrangement

Primary
Care

NHS Trusts

Home orders

Postal delivery

Slide 45

104

Community
Testing

DHSC / NHS

Appendix 6: Inclusion Health
LONDON COVID-19 FIND AND TREAT SERVICE (F&T)
The Find and Treat service, provided by a team from University College Hospitals, is jointly funded by all of London’s Local
Authorities and the Greater London Authority (GLA) and provide the following for rough sleepers, homeless hostels, hotels,
night-shelters, pay to sleep, large houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) and daycentres:
• Outreach testing and contact tracing: Telephone clinical triage and on-site testing triggered by reporting of symptomatic
cases, testing of contacts and immediate infection control advice on site liaising with the London Coronavirus Response
Cell (LCRC).

• Training and support: Provision of training for testing and contact tracing for key local staff (e.g. nominated street
outreach workers, and others with key trusted relationships).
• Sentinel screening: Testing residents and staff of high risk locations (e.g. prioritised based on size, shared facilities etc) to
actively monitor the level of asymptomatic carriage. VOC testing data will be collated with sentinel testing.
• Vaccination: Vaccination of the homeless population and support to address wider healthcare needs (NHS funded)

The amount of training and sentinel screening undertaken will vary depending on the quantity of reactive outreach work (the
focus since December has been entirely on outreach testing, and outbreak support).
Find and Treat are also funded (via NHSE) to provide outreach testing and contact tracing to asylum hotels in London
(funded until end March 2022).
We are currently working through the future delivery model needed (beyond 25 June 2021 when current funding ends) in
anticipation of continuing infections and potentially outbreaks, particularly as vaccination uptake in this group is challenging.

We will continue to collaborate with local authorities across London to understand and address the ongoing needs for these
populations.
Slide 46

105

• Variants of concern (VOC): Should VOC postcode surge areas include any homeless or inclusion health settings F&T can
support local surge testing.

Southwark’s Outbreak Prevention
and Control Plan (OPCP)
Further information
106

Southwark Public Health Division
Environment & Leisure

Further information
Key Southwark strategic and operational frameworks have been developed to
inform, shape and support the implementation of the Outbreak Prevention Control
Plan and recovery. They include:
Vaccination Strategy and communications and engagement plan
Community Ambassadors Programme
Community Covid19 Prevention Grants
Test and Trace Southwark – protocols and operational guidance
Settings based incident and outbreak management protocols (LCRC)
Enforcement and deployment weekly plans
Covid-19 Pandemic Inequalities Impact Assessment
Covid-19 Impact: Health Inequalities Framework & Southwark Standing Together
Action Plan

Slide 48

107










Glossary

Slide 49

108

ABSC – Accommodation Based Services Cell
ART – Acute Response Team – provides day to day routine support
DPH – Director of Public Health
IMT – Incident Management Team – convened as required to
manage serious incidents or outbreaks
SEL IMT – SE London Directors of Public Health meet weekly as a
SEL IMT together with SEL CCG leads
SLHPT– South London Health Protection Team
LCRC – the London Coronavirus Response Cell – the UKHSA
London level health protection service for complex settings and
incidents
OPCP – Outbreak Prevention & Control Plan
OPCE – Outbreak Prevention Control Executive – the outbreak
prevention control coordination and operational board with cross
Council and multi agency senior officers
SPOC – Single Point of Access for contacting Test and Trace
Southwark
TTS – Test and Trace Southwark – the local arrangements
UKHSA – UK Health Security Agency

Find out more at
southwark.gov.uk/publichealth
109

Southwark Public Health Division
Environment, Leisure & Public Health

110

Agenda Item 13

Item No.

Classification: Date:
Open
13 January 2022

Report title:

Meeting Name:
Health and Wellbeing
Board

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA)
Briefing and update on timeline

Ward(s) or groups
affected:

All

From:

Sangeeta Leahy, Director of Public Health

RECOMMENDATION(S)
That the Health and Wellbeing Board:


Comment and agree the scope, process and timeline set out in this
document for the refresh of the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA).



Receives regular updates on development of the PNA.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
1. Since 1 April 2013, every Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) in England has
held a statutory responsibility to publish and keep up to date a statement of
the needs for pharmaceutical services of the population in its area, referred to
as a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA).
2. The current PNA for Southwark was published in 2018 and was due to be
refreshed in 2021.
3. Due to pressures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Department
of Health and Social Care agreed that the requirement to publish renewed
PNAs was suspended for all local authorities until 2022. There is a
requirement that PNAs are now renewed and published by October 2022.
4. HWBs will need to consider the current service provision and consult local
stakeholders as part of the process.
5. The PNA refresh for Southwark and due for publication in October 2022 seeks
to:


Identify current and expected future pharmacy needs for Southwark’s
population including by reviewing population demographics and services
within neighbouring areas;



Engage with stakeholders including health professionals and the public to
identify whether unmet need is experienced;



Review services to ensure effective allocation of resources to best meet

111

population needs;


Present current pharmacy provision in Southwark - including dispensing,
advice on health, medicine reviews and local public health services (such
as stop smoking, sexual health and support for drug users).

6. From April 2022, Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) will take delegated
responsibility for pharmaceutical services; by April 2023 NHS England and
NHS Improvement expects all ICBs will have done so. Health and wellbeing
boards should therefore be aware that some services that are
commissioned from pharmacies by clinical commissioning groups (and are
therefore other NHS services) will move to the integrated care boards and
will fall then within the definition of enhanced services.
SCOPE
Local context
7. The PNA will be undertaken in the context of the needs of the local
population. Health and wellbeing needs for the local population are
described in Southwark’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. The PNA will
not duplicate these detailed descriptions of health needs and should be
read in conjunction with the JSNA.
8. The Southwark profile will include demography including age/ gender
(including population projections), ethnicity and deprivation; and health
needs of the local population (including healthy lifestyles) compared to
England average / inequalities within the borough.
9. The PNA will link into national and local strategic plans, including the local
commissioning strategy, CCG Primary Care Plan and the local joint Health
and Wellbeing strategy.

Description of pharmaceutical services
10. Providers of pharmaceutical services have an important role to play in
improving the health of local people as they are easily accessible and often
the first point of contact, including for those who might otherwise not access
health services. Community pharmacies can contribute to the health and
wellbeing of the local population by providing access to medications, support
for self-care or self-limiting illnesses, information and advice, support for
behaviour change, and signposting to other services.
11. Commissioners are recommended to commission services which are
evidence-based, high quality, consistent, equitable, and accessible and
evaluated.

12. Pharmaceutical services provided in the borough:


Essential services (distribution of pharmacies / opening hours and
access / dispensing)

112



Premises (consultation areas / access for those with a disability)



Advanced services (Medicines Use Reviews / New Medicines Service /
appliance use reviews / stoma appliance customisation service)



Enhanced services (London Pharmacy Immunisation Service / seasonal
influenza vaccination)



Locally commissioned services (stop smoking / sexual health / NHS
Health Checks / supervised consumption / needle and syringe exchange
service/ free (vitamin) D distribution)

Considerations from four PNA supplementary statements produced during the
current PNA (2018-2021)
13. Four local pharmacies closed 2019-2020; all four are located in the Borough
& Walworth area (1 in Chaucer ward, 1 in Faraday ward, and 2 in east
Walworth ward). Southwark have now a total of 58 community pharmacies.
Pharmacy closures were presented to the HWBB meeting on Sep. 2020
(PNA supplementary statement no.3).
14. Despite these closures, there remains a good network of pharmacies in the
affected ward areas with a local average rate of 18.8 pharmacies per
100,000 population. That level is similar to our neighbouring boroughs,
higher than England average (18.3 per 100,000), but lower than the London
average (22 per 100,000).
Review of pharmaceutical services
This will include ensuring pharmacy provision is:
 Equitable across the borough;
 Appropriate to key issues in each area/ward;
 In-line with strategies across the borough.
 Increases population awareness of pharmacy services, e.g. language
services.
 Includes forward looking and planning to ensure they meet the needs of
projected demographic changes (e.g. aging population needs), new
housing developments and new estates.

PROCESS/ TIMELINE
Resource / Financial

113

15. The PNA will be undertaken by the Public Health team within Southwark
Council. Some resources may be required to conduct a public engagement
survey and/or a pharmacy workshop to engage with the public and community
pharmacies in the borough; these options will be discussed at the next PNA
Reference Group meeting.

Legal implications
16. The refreshed PNA will be undertaken in accordance with the requirements
set out in regulations 3-9 Schedule 1 of the NHS (Pharmaceutical Services
and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013.
Consultation
17. The PNA process is overseen by a ‘task & finish’ group that will include
members from the council (PH Team), Southwark CCG and Medicines
Optimisation Team, Local Pharmaceutical Committee (LPC), Community
engagement team, NHS England and NHS Improvement (NHSEI).


The group will consult the views of a range of stakeholders
(neighbouring boroughs, local pharmacies, etc.).



A 60-day public consultation is planned from May – June 2022 to seek
feedback on the PNA from members of the public and other
stakeholders. See Appendix 1 for the PNA timeline.

HWBB timeline
18. The PNA updates will be brought back to the HWBB on 7th March 2022.

114

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Background Papers
Held At
Southwark Pharmaceutical Needs https://www.southwark.
Assessment 2018-2021
gov.uk/assets/attach/63
99/Southwark-PNA2018-2021.pdf

Contact
Dr Leidon Shapo:
Leidon.Shapo@s
outhwark.gov.uk

APPENDICES
No.
Appendix 1

Title
Gantt Chart for Southwark’s Pharmaceutical Needs
Assessment, 2021 refresh (attached - below)

AUDIT TRAIL
Lead Officer Sylvia Garry, Consultant in Public Health
Report Author Leidon Shapo, Head of Programme, Public Health
Version Final
Dated 22 December 2021
Key Decision? No
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES /
CABINET MEMBER
Officer Title
Comments Sought
Comments
Included
Director of Law and Democracy
No
Strategic Director of
No
Finance and Governance
List other officers here
Cabinet Member
No
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team /
4 January 2022
Community Council / Scrutiny Team

Appendix 1: Gantt Chart for Southwark’s Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment, 2021 refresh

Patient /
public
surveys &
Service
provision

Key steps
Engagement of stakeholders
Starting the engagement process (define SG
membership)
SG formed and terms of reference (ToRs)
signed off
Timeline developed and shared with
stakeholders (1st SG meeting)
PNA briefing paper submitted to PHSMT
(mid-Dec.21) and HWB (13.Jan.22)
1st PNA SG meeting - with a freq of 6-8wks
afterwards (Nov.21 - Sep.22)
Obtain various sources of data held by
PH/council (HNAs/Housing and
Regen/transport, etc)
PCNS Template to collect remaining data
agreed with LPC
Data collection - current services, health
needs and local/national priorities
Agreement of communications plan and
consultation process
Access and identify health needs and
local/national priorities
Patient/public engagement survey &
Pharmacies survey

Oct- Nov- Dec- Jan- Feb- Mar- Apr21
21
21
22
22
22
22

May- Jun22
22

Jul- Aug- Sep- Oct22
22
22
22

115

Health Needs &
priorities

Governance

Timeline for the development of a pharmaceutical needs assessment (PNA) 2021-2024

PNA briefing at a Local Pharmaceutical
Meeting (TBC with LPC)
First draft of the PNA (March - April)
Finalise draft of the PNA (April-May)

Formal consultation process (60 days)
Analyses of consultation responses /
prepare consultation response
Amend PNA in light of consultation
Report on consultation to DPH and HWB
Finalise PNA for submission to HWB
PNA signed off by DPH and HWB
PNA published (1st Oct. 22)
Important dates

116

Consultation

Synthesis
and PNA
drafting

Map current service provision
Identify gaps in current service provision
against the identified needs and priorities
Prioritise identified gaps in current service
provision

This page is intentionally blank

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AGENDA DISTRIBUTION LIST (OPEN)
MUNICIPAL YEAR 2021/23
NOTE: Amendments/queries to Maria Lugangira, Constitutional Team, MS Teams

Name

No of
Ecopies

Health and Wellbeing Board Members
Councillor Kieron Williams (Chair)
Dr Nancy Kuchemann (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Evelyn Akoto
Councillor Jasmine Ali
Sarah Austin
David Bradley
Cassie Buchanan
Shamsur Choudhury
Sam Hepplewhite
Clive Kay
Eleanor Kelly
Sangeeta.Leahy
Krzysztof Mikata-Pralat
Councillor David Noakes
David Quirke-Thornton
Andrew Ratcliffe
Anuradha Singh

Name

No of
Ecopies

Officers
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

Sarah Feasey

1

Others
Maria Lugangira, Constitutional Team

Total:19

Dated: January 2022

1

